

# **Technical Manual**

# **PTO HORSE Tiller**



GARDEN WAY INC.

BrentChalmers.com

OTROVER



## PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL 4/90

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## SECTION 1.

General Information	on				•					•				•				•	•		•	•	1-1
Safety First																				•			1-1
Quick Referenc	е	R	е	р	a	ir	1	In	10	de	2)	X			•	•	•	•	•			•	1-2

## **SECTION 2.**

Transmission Troubleshooting	2-1
Forward and Reverse Shifting Problems	2-1
Wheel Speed Shifting Problems	2-2
Wheels and/or Tines Do Not Turn	2-3
Wheel Shaft Moves To One Side	2-4
Noise From Rear Tiller Bearing	2-4
Oil Leaks	2-5

## SECTION 3.

<b>Pre-Service Inspection</b>		3-1
-------------------------------	--	-----

## **SECTION 4.**

Transmission Removal and Installation	4-1
Removal	4-1
Separating/Attaching the PTO Power Unit	
and Tiller Attachment Transmissions	4-2
Installation	4-3

#### **SECTION 5.**

Servicing the PTO Power Unit Transmission	5-1
PTO Power Unit Housing Cover	5-1
Removal	5-1
Inspection	5-2
Installation	5-2
Neutral Plunger Assembly	5-2
PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft	5-3
Removal	5-3
Inspection	5-4
Installation	5-4
Pinion Shaft Assembly	5-5
Removal	5-5
Inspection	5-6
Installation	5-7

#### **SECTION 5.**

Servicing the PTO Power Unit Transmission	
(continued) Wheel Shaft Assembly Removal Inspection Installation Eccentric Shaft Assembly Removal Inspection Installation	5-8 5-9 5-9 5-10 5-10 5-10 5-10
SECTION 6.	
Servicing the Tiller Attachment Transmission Tiller Drive Shaft Assembly Removal	6-1 6-1 6-2 6-3 6-3 6-3 6-5 6-5
SECTION 7. Special Repairs and Procedures	7-1
Assembly Removing the Existing Assembly Installing a New Assembly Removing a Rusted Wheel Removing the Wheel Shaft Without Disassembling the Transmission Removal Installing the Wheel Shaft	7-1 7-1 7-2 7-2 7-2 7-3
Identifying a Bubbled Wheel Shaft Testing for a Bubbled Wheel Shaft Tightening the Castle Nut On the Wheel Speed Lever	.7-4 .7-4 .7-4
Index	8-1



## **SECTION 1: General Information**

• This manual provides transmission service information for the PTO HORSE Model TROY-BILT® Roto Tiller-Power Composter built by TROY-BILT Manufacturing Company, Troy, New York. Use this manual for tillers with serial numbers 640000 and up.

• This manual was written for and intended to be used by professional service technicians who have been trained in the proper servicing of outdoor power equipment.

• All information, illustrations, and specifications contained in this manual are based on the latest information available at the time of publication. The right is reserved to make changes at any time without notice. If you have any questions concerning the information contained in this manual please contact:

Technical Service Department TROY-BILT® Manufacturing Company 102nd Street and 9th Avenue Troy, New York 12180 Call Toll-Free: 1-800-833-6990.



This symbol is used to alert you to important safety messages in this manual and on decals affixed to the tiller. When you see this symbol, carefully read and follow its safety message. Failure to do so could result in personal injury or property damage.

• This manual is divided into seven sections as shown in the Table of Contents. For best results, read each section in its entirety before attempting any repair work. • This manual is designed to be used in combination with the PTO Horse Model Owner/Operator Manual. The Owner/Operator Manual contains additional service and maintenance information that is not covered in this manual. Refer to "Quick Reference Repair Index" in this section for a listing of the service and maintenance topics that are covered in the Owner/Operator Manual.

• Service and maintenance information regarding engines is not covered in this manual. Such information can be obtained by consulting the Service Repair Manuals available from the engine manufacturer. You should, however, call our Technical Service Department with questions concerning engine replacement or interchangeability.

• Throughout this manual, you will see references to the left and right sides of the tiller. This refers to the left and right sides of the tiller as you would see them standing in the operator's position.

## Safety First

When working on the tiller or its engine, closely follow operating instructions and recommended safety practices at all times. Failure to do so could result in personal injury or property damage. Here are some basic safety precautions you should keep in mind at all times when doing repair work:

## KNOW THE TILLER AND ENGINE! Read the

Owner/Operator Manual carefully. Be sure you know what each tiller and engine control does before you attempt to operate it. Read and follow all safety rules. Never allow inexperienced persons or children to operate the tiller or its engine.

#### WEAR PROPER APPAREL!

Don't wear loose clothing or jewelry that could get caught in moving parts of the tiller or its engine.

#### AVOID MOVING PARTS!

Keep hands, feet, hair, clothing, and tools safely away from moving parts when the engine is running.

## AVOID ACCIDENTAL STARTING!

When servicing the machine, prevent unintentional starting of the engine by disconnecting the spark plug wire and keeping the wire away from the spark plug. Place engine controls in the OFF position and shift the Wheels/ Tines/PTO Drive Lever into NEUTRAL.

#### WEAR EYE PROTECTION!

Safety goggles or a face shield should be worn whenever there is the possibility of danger to the eyes from flying parts or particles.

## PREVENT FIRES AND

**EXPLOSIONS!** Gasoline is highly flammable and explosive and should be used and stored with extreme caution. Keep gasoline away from open flame, sparks, and do not smoke in the vicinity of gasoline cans or fuel tanks. Do not add gasoline to a fuel tank when the engine is running or still hot. Fill the fuel tank outdoors, in a well-ventilated area. Store gasoline in a cool, well-ventilated place, safely away from any spark or flame producing equipment. Store only in a U.L. approved container and safely out of reach of children. Wipe off any spilled gasoline and move the engine away from gasoline fumes before starting engine.

bre Use flammable cleaning solvents only according to recognized es. safety practices (never use gasoline as a cleaning solvent). Oily rags and waste should be packed BrentChalmers.com

## PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 1-2 4/90

## **SECTION 1: General Information**

in a U.L. approved covered metal safety container to prevent fire from spontaneous combustion.

## HANDLE BATTERIES WITH

**CARE!** Batteries contain sulfuric acid that can cause blindness, burn skin, and eat through clothing. Wear safety goggles when working near the battery or when handling battery acid. Remove all rings and metal jewelry when working on the battery or electrical system.

Batteries also produce explosive gases. Keep sparks, flames, and cigarettes away. Ventilate when charging or using in an enclosed space.

Do not cause a short circuit by touching both battery terminals at the same time with tools or other metallic objects. Also, do not allow a tool or other metallic object to touch a terminal that is not grounded and an adjacent metallic part that is grounded. A spark from a short circuit could cause an explosion of battery gases or gasoline.

#### **AVOID ENGINE EXHAUST**

**FUMES!** Do not run the engine in an enclosed area. Exhaust gases contain carbon monoxide, an odorless and deadly poison. Provide adequate ventilation at all times. After running the engine, don't touch the muffler or other hot engine parts until they have cooled down.

#### HANDLE PARTS CAREFULLY!

With continued use, the teeth on gears and worms may wear to sharp, knife-like edges. Therefore, when handling these parts, use care to avoid cutting yourself.

#### **REPLACEMENT PARTS!**

Use only genuine Troy-Bilt replacement parts. Replacement parts manufactured by others could present safety hazards even though they may fit on this tiller.

## **Quick Reference Repair Index**

To obtain service information for the following topics, please refer to either this Technical Manual or the Owner/Operator Manual, as indicated in the table below.

Air CleanerXBatteryXBearing Cap, PTO Power UnitXBearing Cap, Tiller AttachmentXBearings, Tiller Drive ShaftXBearings, Tiller Drive ShaftXBearings, Tiller Drive ShaftXBearings, Wheel ShaftXBearings, Wheel ShaftXBeltsXBolo TinesXBronze BushingsXCarburetorXChokeXClutch RollerXCover, TransmissionXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXEccentric LeverXEccentric LeverXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXInglition SystemXValuer PlungerXOil Crain PlugXOil Chever UnitXPrinon ShaftXPrinon ShaftXPrinon ShaftXPrinon ShaftXPrinon ShaftXThrottle CableXTiller Prive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Trive ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Trive ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Trive ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Trive ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Trive ShaftX <th></th> <th>TECHNICAL</th> <th>OWNER/OPERATOR MANUAL</th> <th></th>		TECHNICAL	OWNER/OPERATOR MANUAL	
BatteryXBatteryXBearing Cap, TIler Drive ShaftXBearings, Tiller Drive ShaftXBearings, Tiller Tine ShaftXBearings, Wheel ShaftXBearings, Wheel ShaftXBolo TinesXBronze BushingsXCrokeXChokeXClutch RollerXCover, TransmissionXDepth RegulatorXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, TPO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, TPO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, TPO Power UnitXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Orain PlugXOil (Engine and Transmission)XOil (Engine and Transmission)XOil (Engine and Transmission)XPrion ShaftXPinion ShaftXTiller Thousing CoverXTiller Thousing CoverXTransmission PulleyXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWheel Speed LeverXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX </td <td>Air Cleaner</td> <td></td> <td>×</td> <td>25</td>	Air Cleaner		×	25
Bearing Cap, TIO Power Unit       X         Bearing Cap, Tiller Attachment       X         Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft       X         Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft       X         Bearings, Wheel Shaft       X         Bearings, Wheel Shaft       X         Belts       X         Bolo Tines       X         Bronze Bushings       X         Carburetor       X         Choke       X         Clutch Roller       X         Cover, Transmission       X         Dog Clutch, TIIler Attachment       X         Dog Clutch, TIIler Attachment       X         Dog Clutch, TIIler Attachment       X         Drive Shaft, Tiller Attachment       X         Ecctric Lever       X         Ecctric Lever       X         Fuel       X         Handlebar Height Adjustment       X         Ignition System       X         Ubbrication Points       X         Valuetal Plunger       X         Viller Orive Shaft       X         Pinion Shaft Gears       X         Pinion Shaft Gears       X         Pinion Shaft       X         Tiller Tow Shaft       X	Battery		×	
Bearing Cap. Tiller Attachment X Bearings, Drive Shaft X Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft X Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft X Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft X Bearings, Wheel Shaft X Bearings, Wheel Shaft X Belts X Bolo Tines X Bronze Bushings X Carburetor X Choke X Clutch X Clutch C Clutch C Clutch Roller X Cover, Transmission X Depth Regulator X Dog Clutch, TILEr Attachment X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, TILer Attachment X Eccentric Lever X Electric Start System X Lubrication Points X Lubrication Points X Neutral Plunger X Oil Drain Plug X Oil Level Check Plug X Prinon Shaft Gears X Prinon Shaft Saft X Throttle Cable X Tiller Orive Shaft X Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Toris Shaft X Transmission Pulley X Wheel Speed Gears X Woren Gear, Tiller Trive Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Trive Shaft X	Bearing Cap. PTO Power Unit	X	~	
Bearings, Drive Shaft X Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft X Bearings, Wheel Shaft X Bearings, Wheel Shaft X Bels X Bolo Tines X Bronze Bushings X Carburetor X Choke X Clutch Roller X Clutch Roller X Cover, Transmission X Depth Regulator X Dog Clutch, Tiller Attachment X Dog Clutch, Tiller Attachment X Dog Clutch, Tiller Attachment X Eccentric Lever X Electric Start System X Engine X Fuel X Handlebar Height Adjustment X Ignition System X Lubrication Points X Neutral Plunger X Oil Drain Plug X Oil Level Check Plug X Pinion Shaft Gears X Pinion Shaft A Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Attachment X Ignition System X Lubrication Points X Neutral Plunger X Oil Drain Plug X Pinion Shaft Gears X Throttle Cable X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Tine Shaft X Tiller Tine Shaft X Wheel Shaft X Wheel Speed Gears X Worm, FTO Power Unit Drive Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X	Bearing Cap, Tiller Attachment	X		
Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft X Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft X Bearings, Wheel Shaft X Belts X Bolo Tines X Bronze Bushings X Carburetor X Choke X Clutch C Clutch C Clutch C Clutch Roller X Cover, Transmission X Depth Regulator X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, PTO Power Unit X Eccentric Lever X Electric Start System X Fuel X Handlebar Height Adjustment X Unitoria System X Lubrication Points X Neutral Plunger X Oil Drain Plug X Oil Check Plug X Pinion Shaft X Prion Shaft X Prion Shaft X Prion Shaft X Prion Shaft X Prion Shaft X Prinon Shaft X Throttle Cable X Tiller Drive Shaft X Tiller Tine Shaft X Wheel Speed Lever X Wheel Shaft X Wheel Speed Lever X Transmission Puito Shaft X Wheel Shaft X Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X	Bearings Drive Shaft	X		· · · ·
Bearings, Tiller Tine ShaftXBearings, Wheel ShaftXBeltsXBolo TinesXBronze BushingsXCarburetorXChokeXClutch RollerXClutch RollerXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXElectric Start SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion Shaft GearsXPinion Shaft GearsXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine Sha	Bearings, Tiller Drive Shaft	X		
Bearings, Wheel Shaft X Belts X Belts X Bolo Tines X Bronze Bushings X Carburetor X Choke X Clutch Coller X Clutch RUE Prover Unit X Dog Clutch, TTILP Attachment X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, TILP Attachment X Eccentric Lever X Electric Start System X Engine X Fuel X Handlebar Height Adjustment X Ignition System X Lubrication Points X Neutral Plunger X Oil Drain Plug X Oil Crain Plug X Pinion Shaft Gears X PTO Power Unit X Filler Attachment X Tiller Attachment X Solenoid X Throttle Cable X Throttle Cable X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Attachment X Solenoid X Throttle Cable X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Prive Shaft X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Drive Shaft X Wheel Speed Gears X Wheel Speed Lever X Worm, FTO Power Unit Drive Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Hattachment X Hattachment X Hattachment X Hattachment X Hattachment X Hattachment X Hattachment X Hattachment X Hattachment X Ha	Bearings, Tiller Tine Shaft	X		
BeltsXBolo TinesXBronze BushingsXCarburetorXChokeXClutch RollerXClutch RollerXCover, TransmissionXDepth RegulatorXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, PTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, FTO Power UnitXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXEngineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXUbrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXUbrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXEudition PointsXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPrinon ShaftXPrinon ShaftXProtte CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Tines ShaftXTiller Tines ShaftXTrens/WheelsXTrens/WheelsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine Sh	Bearings, Wheel Shaft	×		
BoloXBronze BushingsXBronze BushingsXCarburetorXChokeXClutchXClutch RollerXCover, TransmissionXDeg Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, PTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, TFID Power UnitXDrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXElectric LeverXElectric Start SystemXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXOil Drain PlugXOil Clegine and Transmission)XOil Level Check PlugXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXTiller AttachmentXKeurse DiscXSolenoidXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller	Belts	~	×	
Bronze Bushings X Garburetor X Choke X Clutch Choke X Clutch Roller X Clutch Roller X Cover, Transmission X Depth Regulator X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, PTO Power Unit X Eccentric Lever X Electric Start System X Electric Start System X Engine X Fuel X Handlebar Height Adjustment X Ignition System X Lubrication Points X Neutral Plunger X Oil Drain Plug X Oil Check Plug X Pinion Shaft X Pinion Shaft X Pinion Shaft X Pinion Shaft X Reverse Disc X Solenoid X Throttle Cable X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Time Shaft X Times/PTO Clutch Lever X Time	Bolo Tines		Ŷ	
Drive Draw BurgerXCarburetorXChokeXClutch RollerXClutch RollerXCover, TransmissionXDepth RegulatorXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, FPTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXElectric LeverXElectric Start SystemXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXColl Drain PlugXOil Drain PlugXOil Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPro Power UnitXPro Power UnitXPro Power UnitXPriller Drive ShaftXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXWheel ShaftXWheel ShaftXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftX	Bronze Bushings	×	^	- 1, S
ChokeXClutchXClutch RollerXCover, TransmissionXDepth RegulatorXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, TO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, TO Power UnitXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Check PlugXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, Tile Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Carburetor	~	×	
Clutch Clutch X X X Clutch Roller X X Clutch Roller X X Cover, Transmission X X Depth Regulator X X Dog Clutch, Tiller Attachment X Drive Shaft, Tiller Attachment X Eccentric Lever X E Electric Start System X Engine X X Fuel X X Handlebar Height Adjustment X Lubrication Points X X Lubrication Points X X Neutral Plunger X O Oil Crain Plug X Oil Level Check Plug X Pinion Shaft X X Pinion Shaft X X Pinion Shaft S X PTO Power Unit X Reverse Disc X Solenoid X X Throttle Cable X Tiller Attachment X Tiller Tive Shaft X X Tiller Tive Shaft X X Wheel Shaft X X Wheel Shaft X X Wheel Speed Lever X Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft X Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Vorm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Vorm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X	Choke		~	1
Clutch Roller X Cover, Transmission X Depth Regulator X Dog Clutch, Tiller Attachment X Dog Clutch, PTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, TTO Power Unit X Drive Shaft, Tiller Attachment X Eccentric Lever X Electric Start System X Electric Start System X Engine X Fuel X Handlebar Height Adjustment X Ignition System X Lubrication Points X Neutral Plunger X Oil Drain Plug X Oil Level Check Plug X Pinion Shaft X Prion Shaft X Pro Power Unit X Reverse Disc X Solenoid X Throttle Cable X Tiller Thousing Cover X Tiller Thousing Cover X Tiller Tine Shaft X Tines/PTO Clutch Lever X Times/PTO Clutch Lever X Wheel Shaft X Wheel Shaft X Wheel Shaft X Worm, TIO Power Unit Drive Shaft X Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Gear Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Shaft X Worm Gear Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Gear Tiller Tine Shaft X Worm Shaft X Wor	Clutch	V	~	
OutcombinXCover, TransmissionXDepth RegulatorXDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, PTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, PTO Power UnitXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXEngineXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Level Check PlugXPinion Shaft GearsXProbleck PlugXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Fire ShaftXTiller Fire ShaftXWheel Speed LeverXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, Clause ShaftXWorm, Clause ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft <td>Clutch Boller</td> <td>^</td> <td>×</td> <td></td>	Clutch Boller	^	×	
Over, HalamissionxDepth RegulatorxDog Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDrive Shaft, TTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXProper UnitXPinion Shaft GearsXProte CableXThrottle CableXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, Chiler Drive ShaftXWorm, Chiler Drive ShaftXWorm, Chiler Drive ShaftXWorm, Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Cover Transmission	~	~	
Deg Clutch, Tiller AttachmentXDog Clutch, PTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, TO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXEngineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Cene Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tire ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tires/WheelsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, Chel Speed LeverXWorm, Tiller Drive ShaftXWorm, Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX <td< td=""><td>Dopth Regulator</td><td>~</td><td>×</td><td></td></td<>	Dopth Regulator	~	×	
Dog Clutch, PTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, PTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, PTO Power UnitXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPro Power UnitXPro Power UnitXOil Level Check PlugXPinion Shaft 6earsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Tire ShaftXWorm, PTO Power Unit KXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX<	Dep Clutch Tiller Attachment	~	~	
Doily Chait, PTO Power UnitXDrive Shaft, TTIller AttachmentXElectric LeverXElectric Start SystemXEngineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXProver UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller AttachmentXTiller ShaftXTiller ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTirassisoin PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft	Dog Clutch, Ther Attachment	~		
Drive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXDrive Shaft, Tiller AttachmentXElectric LeverXEngineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion ShaftXPro Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Fines ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX<	Drive Shaft, PTO Power Unit	~		
Drive Shalt, miler AttachmentXEccentric LeverXElectric Start SystemXEngineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Chevel Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPro Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTirasmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed LeverXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear,	Drive Shaft, FTO Fower Offic	~		
Electric EvenXElectric Start SystemXEngineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXIubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Chevel Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPro Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTirasmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, Tiller Drive ShaftXYheel Speed LeverXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine	Drive Shalt, Tiller Attachment	~		
Liecture Statu SystemXEngineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPro Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Electric Start System	~	X	
LingineXFuelXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTimes/PTO Clutch LeverXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Electric Start System		X	
Handlebar Height AdjustmentXHandlebar Height AdjustmentXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil (Engine and Transmission)XOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, FTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Engline		X	
Ignition SystemXIgnition SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Tine ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft </td <td>Fuel Handlohar Height Adjustment</td> <td></td> <td>. X</td> <td></td>	Fuel Handlohar Height Adjustment		. X	
Ightton SystemXLubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Tine ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXYorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	landlebar Height Adjustment		X	
Lubrication PointsXNeutral PlungerXOil Drain PlugXOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Lubrication Points		~	
Neutral PluigerXOil Drain PlugXOil (Engine and Transmission)XOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Flowsing CoverXTiller Flowsing CoverXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Noutral Plunger	V	~	
Oil Drain PrlugXOil (Engine and Transmission)XOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTirnes/PTO Clutch LeverXYheelsXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXYorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX <td< td=""><td></td><td>~</td><td></td><td></td></td<>		~		
Oil (Eligine and Transmission)XOil Level Check PlugXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTires/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft<	Oil (Engine and Transmission)	~	N.	
On Level Check PridgXPinion ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Housing CoverXTiller Tine ShaftXTires/PTO Clutch LeverXTransmission PulleyXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Oil (Engine and Transmission)	V	X	
Printent ShaftXPinion Shaft GearsXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Housing CoverXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, Clutch ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXTiller Tiller Tine ShaftXTiller Tiller Tine ShaftX<	Dirice Sheft	X		
PTO Power UnitXPTO Power UnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Housing CoverXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm, Clutch LeverXWorm, Tiller Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTiller Tiller Tine ShaftX <td>Pinion Shaft Coore</td> <td>X</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Pinion Shaft Coore	X		
PTO Power OnitXReverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Housing CoverXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Pinion Shart Gears	X		
Neverse DiscXSolenoidXThrottle CableXTiller CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	PTO Power Unit	~		
SolerioldXThrottle CableXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Reverse Disc		X	
Tiller AttachmentXTiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Throttle Cable		X	
Tiller AttachmentXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Drive ShaftXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Tiller Attachment	V	X	
Tiller Drive ShaftXTiller Housing CoverXTiller Tine ShaftXTines/PTO Clutch LeverXTires/WheelsXTransmission PulleyXWheel ShaftXWheel Speed GearsXWheel Speed LeverXWorm, PTO Power Unit Drive ShaftXWorm Gear, Wheel ShaftXWorm Gear, Tiller Tine ShaftX	Tiller Drive Sheft	X		
Tiller Tine Hotsing Cover     X       Tiller Tine Shaft     X       Tines/PTO Clutch Lever     X       Tires/Wheels     X       Transmission Pulley     X       Wheel Shaft     X       Wheel Speed Gears     X       Wheel Speed Lever     X       Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Tiller Housing Cover	~		
Tiner The Shart     X       Tines/PTO Clutch Lever     X       Tires/Wheels     X       Transmission Pulley     X       Wheel Shaft     X       Wheel Speed Gears     X       Wheel Speed Lever     X       Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Tiller Tipe Chaft	X		
Tires/Wheels     X       Transmission Pulley     X       Wheel Shaft     X       Wheel Speed Gears     X       Wheel Speed Lever     X       Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Tines/PTO Clutch Lover	X		
Transmission Pulley     X       Wheel Shaft     X       Wheel Speed Gears     X       Wheel Speed Lever     X       Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Tires/M/book	~		
Wheel Shaft     X       Wheel Speed Gears     X       Wheel Speed Lever     X       Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm, Tiller Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Transmission Bullow		X ,	
Wheel Shart     X       Wheel Speed Gears     X       Wheel Speed Lever     X       Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm, Tiller Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Wheel Shaft	V	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Wheel Speed Gears     X       Wheel Speed Lever     X       Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm, Tiller Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Wheel Shall	~		
Worm, PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft     X       Worm, Tiller Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Wheel Speed Lever	^	~	1
Worm, Tiller Drive Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Worm PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft	V	Ā	
Worm Gear, Wheel Shaft     X       Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft     X	Worm Tiller Drive Shaft	Ŷ		
Worm Gear, Tiller Tine Shaft X	Worm Gear Wheel Shaft	$\hat{\mathbf{v}}$	-	
	Worm Gear Tiller Tine Shaft	×	-	
	Gear, file fille Shalt	^		

## <del>BrentChalm</del>ers.com

PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 2-1 4/90

The following charts list the most common problems experienced with the tiller drive train. Symptoms of problems are listed along with possible remedies. If following the repair procedures does not fix the problem, call the TROY-BILT® Tiller Technical Service Department at TOLL-FREE: 1-800-833-6990. **WARNING:** When servicing the machine, prevent unintentional starting of the engine by disconnecting the spark plug wire and keeping the wire away from the spark plug. Place the engine throttle control in the OFF position and shift the Wheels/Tines/PTO Drive Lever into NEUTRAL.

#### Forward and Reverse Shifting Problems

Symptom	Remedy
Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever is hard to shift into reverse.	<ul> <li>Check the reverse disc for wear. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> <li>Check the adjustment of the reverse disc and/or reverse spring and plunger assembly. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> <li>Clean and re-lubricate the motor mount bars, belt adjustment block, and linkages on lever. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>
Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever sticks in forward.	<ul> <li>Lubricate the motor mount bars, belt adjustment block, and linkages on the lever. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> <li>Check the tension on the drive belt. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>
Tiller stays in reverse when the Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever is released.	<ul> <li>Lubricate the motor mount bars, belt adjustment block, and linkages on the lever. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> <li>Check the adjustment of the reverse disc and/or reverse spring and plunger assembly. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>
Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever jumps out of forward.	<ul> <li>Raise the belt adjustment block as the drive belt may be too tight. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> <li>Install a new clutch pawl spring at the end of the lever. The old spring may be overstretched.</li> </ul>
Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever is hard to shift into forward.	<ul> <li>Lubricate the motor mount bars, belt adjustment block, and linkages on lever. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>

1

## Wheel Speed Shifting Problems

Symptom	Remedy
Wheel Speed Lever drops out of fast speed.	• Check the tension on on the Wheel Speed Lever's castle nut. See "Tightening the Castle Nut On the Wheel Speed Lever" in Section 7 of this manual.
Wheel Speed Lever hard to shift.	<ul> <li>Inspect the Wheel Speed Lever:</li> <li>Lubricate the Wheel Speed Lever linkage where the connecting rod joins the shift lever and the connecting rod swivel.</li> <li>The connecting rod at the bottom of the lever may be backwards or bent in towards the transmission and hitting it.</li> <li>Lubricate the washers and castle nut on the pivot point of the lever.</li> <li>Check the tension on the Wheel Speed Lever's castle nut. See "Tightening the Castle Nut On the Wheel Speed Lever" in Section 7 of this manual.</li> <li>Check if the clutch is binding on the wheel shaft. See "Testing for a Bubbled Wheel Shaft" in Section 7 of this manual.</li> </ul>
Wheel Speed Lever moves into slow speed but not into fast.	<ul> <li>Check if the clutch is binding on the wheel shaft. See "Testing for a Bubbled Wheel Shaft" in Section 7 of this manual.</li> </ul>
Wheel Speed Lever moves freely but the transmission does not shift out of or into fast or slow speed.	• Disconnect the shift linkage from the eccentric lever and try moving the eccentric lever by hand. If the lever rotates 360 degrees around the eccentric shaft, the spirol pin that connects the lever and the shaft is broken or missing. Replace the spirol pin. If the lever and the shaft together rotate 360 degrees, the shaft is broken and must be replaced. (Although rare, the eccentric shifting pin could be broken or missing, which would also result in the lever and shaft being able to rotate a full 360 degrees.)



## Wheels and/or Tines Do Not Turn

.

Symptom	Remedy					
Wheels and tines won't turn even though	<ul> <li>Inspect the drive belt for wear or mis-adjustment. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>					
Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever seems to work properly.	<ul> <li>Check condition and adjustment of reverse disc. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>					
	<ul> <li>Inspect the mounting bolt on the transmission drive pulley. It may be loose or missing, which would allow the key in the pulley to fall out. If so, the drive belt or reverse disc will turn the pulley but the pulley will not turn the power unit drive shaft. Tighten the bolt (with the concave washer in place) securely.</li> </ul>					
	• Check for play in the power unit drive shaft. If there is play in the drive shaft, find out why. It could be a loose bearing cap, improper shimming, damaged bearings or worn worms.					
	• If the transmission is new or rebuilt, the key on the transmission engine pulley may not have been installed. If so, the pulley cannot transfer power to the drive shaft.					
	• If the transmission is new or rebuilt, the internal keys in the pinion assembly may not have been installed. If so, the pinion gears will not drive the wheel speed gears.					
Tines turn but the wheels do not turn or turn only	<ul> <li>Inspect the hi-pro key that lets the clutch turn the wheel shaft. It may be missing or broken.</li> </ul>					
in one speed. The Wheel Speed Lever moves the	<ul> <li>Inspect the lugs on each side of the clutch; they may be worn.</li> </ul>					
clutch into either gear.	Inspect the fast and slow speed wheel gears. One or both may be worn.					
	Inspect the fast and slow speed pinion gears. One or both may be worn.					
	<ul> <li>Inspect the power unit drive shaft worm. It may be worn and not meshing with the bronze worm gear on the pinion shaft assembly.</li> </ul>					
	<ul> <li>Inspect the bronze worm gear on the pinion shaft assembly. It may be worn and not meshing with the power unit drive shaft worm.</li> </ul>					
	• If the transmission is new or rebuilt, the key that holds the bronze worm gear to the fast speed pinion gear may not have been installed. This means the bronze worm gear will turn but it will not turn the pinion gear.					
	• If the wheels only turn in the fast wheel speed and if the transmission is new or rebuilt, the key may be missing from the stem pinion gear, preventing the transmission from operating in slow gear. The key locks the stem pinion to the fast speed pinion gear.					



## PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 2-4 4/90

# **SECTION 2: Transmission Troubleshooting**

# Wheels and/or Tines Do Not Turn

Symptom	Remedy				
Wheels turn but the tines	Make sure the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever is engaged.				
do not.	Adjust the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever.				
	<ul> <li>Make sure the power unit or tiller attachment's dog clutch key is in place and that each key is fully seated. Both dog clutches must be able to slide lengthwise on their shafts.</li> </ul>				
	Inspect the eccentric lever on the Tines/PTO Clutch; it may be broken.				
	<ul> <li>Inspect the tiller attachment drive shaft worm. It may be worn and unable to mesh with the bronze tiller shaft worm gear.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>Inspect the bronze tiller drive shaft worm gear. It may be worn and unable to mesh with the tiller drive shaft worm.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>Inspect the keys that hold the tine holders to the tine shaft; they may be sheared or missing. Or, the holders may be worn. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>				
	• If the transmission has been in service for a long time, the key that holds the bronze worm gear to the tiller shaft may be broken. If the transmission is new or rebuilt; the key may be missing.				
Wheels and tines turn on top of the ground but stop or	<ul> <li>Check the drive belt for proper adjustment. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions.</li> </ul>				
hesitate in the soil.	<ul> <li>Check if the mounting bolt for the transmission drive pulley is missing. This would allow the key inside the pulley to fall out.</li> </ul>				
e.	<ul> <li>Follow the remedies for "Wheel and tines won't turn though Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever seems to work properly." See Page 2-3.</li> </ul>				
	<ul> <li>Follow the remedies for "Tines turn but the wheels do not turn or turn only in one speed." See Page 2-3.</li> </ul>				

## Wheel Shaft Moves To One Side

Symptom	Remedy	
The wheels and wheel shaft move to one side.	<ul> <li>Check for play in the wheel shaft. If there is more than .015" play, on snap rings are out of the groove(s).</li> </ul>	e or both

## Noise from Rear Tiller Bearing

Symptom	Remedy	
A growling or whining noise from the tiller attachment rear bearing.	<ul> <li>Inspect the bearing and bearing cup for wear or damage.</li> <li>Inspect the tiller shaft bronze worm gear for wear or damage.</li> </ul>	rs con

## **Oil Leaks**

Symptom	Remedy	
Oil leaks from the wheel shaft oil seals.	<ul> <li>An oil seal is worn or damaged. Check for side-to-side and vertical play in the wheel shaft and replace seal.</li> </ul>	
	Give new seals time to lap in.	
	Inspect the wheel shaft for minor damage at the oil seal location:	
	<ul> <li>Inspect for corrosion, pitting, or scoring.</li> <li>Use emery cloth to remove any minor defects.</li> <li>Attempt to seat the seal so that it is on an undamaged part of the shaft.</li> <li>Replace the wheel shaft if necessary.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Determine if the seal fits loosely in the transmission bore. Contact the TROY-BILT Technical Service Department for a special seal.</li> </ul>	
	• Be sure the transmission is filled with SAE 90 or SAE 140 gear oil. A lighter viscosity oil will cause leakage.	
	<ul> <li>Make sure that a non-hardening gasket sealer was applied to the outside diameter of the oil seal prior to its installation.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Make sure the housing bore has no nicks or scratches that would permit oil to seep out between the seal and the housing.</li> </ul>	
Oil leaks from the rear of the tiller attachment	If the leak is from the oil seals on the tiller tine shaft:	
	Make sure the seals have non-hardening gasket sealer around the outside edges.	
	An oil seal is worn or damaged; replace the seal.	
	Inspect the tiller tine shaft for minor damage at the oil seal location:	
	<ul> <li>Inspect for corrosion, pitting, or scoring.</li> <li>Use emery cloth to remove any minor defects.</li> <li>Replace the tiller tine shaft if necessary.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Check for sand holes (imperfections in the cast iron) or cracks in the housing cover.</li> </ul>	
	If the leak is on the left side of the tiller housing:	
	<ul> <li>Apply non-hardening gasket sealer to each of the tiller housing cover screws and tighten the screws.</li> </ul>	
	Replace any worn or damaged gaskets.	
	<ul> <li>Make sure the housing cover bore has no nicks or scratches that would permit oil to seep out.</li> </ul>	
i - effit	<ul> <li>Make sure the housing bore has no nicks or scratches that would permit oil to seep out beteen the seal and the housing.</li> </ul>	
	If the leak is from the rear bearing cap:	
	Inspect the rear bearing cap:	
	<ul> <li>Make sure the screws are the correct length.</li> <li>Apply non-hardening gasket sealer to each of the rear bearing cap bolts and tighten the bolts.</li> </ul>	
	Replace a worn or damaged gasket.	
	Check for excessive play in the tiller time shaft.     BrentChalmers co	

## **Oil Leaks**

Symptom	Remedy	
Oil leaks from the front oil seal on the power unit drive shaft. Oil could appear in the base of the motor mount under the pulley. (Make sure this is not an oil leak from the neutral plunger assembly, which is an oil relief point.)	<ul> <li>Replace a worn or damaged oil seal and check for play in the shaft.</li> <li>Apply a layer of non-hardening gasket sealer to each of the front bearing cap bolts and tighten the bolts.</li> <li>Replace a worn or damaged gasket.</li> <li>Make sure the leak is at the front oil seal. You could be seeing oil that leaked from the engine air cleaner, power unit housing cover, or engine seal.</li> <li>Check the transmission gear oil level when the unit is cold. If overfilled, drain it to the proper level.</li> </ul>	
Oil leaks from the handlebar base or the bottom of the reverse spring and plunger assembly.	<ul> <li>Loosen and remove the oil level check plug to make sure the oil level is correct. If the transmission is overfilled, let the excess oil drain out.</li> <li>See if oil is leaking from the neutral plunger. If oil is leaking from here, take no action; the neutral plunger is an oil relief point.</li> </ul>	
Oil is leaking from the eccentric shaft and lever.	Replace the oil seal.	
Oif is leaking from any pipe plug in the transmis- sion housing.	<ul> <li>Remove the pipe plug and apply a layer of non-hardening gasket sealer. Then re-install the plug.</li> <li>Check to see if the plug is cross-threaded.</li> </ul>	
Oil is leaking between the power unit housing cover and the housing.	<ul> <li>Tighten the housing cover bolts.</li> <li>Replace the gasket.</li> <li>A special transmission cover gasket (Part No. 9260) may be required if the leak continues.</li> </ul>	

## **SECTION 3: Pre-Service Inspection**

PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 3-1 4/90

Before you begin your repair or maintenance procedure take a moment to perform a pre-service inspection of the following transmission parts. In doing so, you may discover additional problems that can be corrected while the tiller is in your shop.

Wheel Shaft — Inspect the wheel shaft for movement and oil leaks:

 Grasp the tiller's handlebars and tilt the tiller forward so its weight is resting entirely on the wheels and move the tiller side-to-side. See Figure 3-1.



Figure 3-1: Pre-Disassembly Inspection of the Wheel Shaft.

If the tiller moves more than .015" from side-to-side on the wheel shaft, it indicates that the wheel shaft needs either to be shimmed or that one or both of the snap rings has become dislodged from the snap ring groove(s).

· If oil is leaking from around one or both of the wheel shaft oil seals, replace the oil seal(s) and determine why the oil seal(s) failed.



WARNING: When servicing the machine, prevent unintentional starting of the engine by disconnecting the spark plug wire and keeping the wire away from the spark plug. Place the engine throttle control in the OFF position and shift the Wheels/Tines/PTO Drive Lever into NEUTRAL.

#### PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft

Pulley - Check the PTO drive shaft pulley (see Figure 3-2) for end play and oil leaks:



Figure 3-2: Pre-Disassembly Inspection of the Drive Shaft Pulley.

 Using two hands, grasp the drive shaft pulley and pull it in and out to check for end play.

There should be .005" to .010" play. If the drive shaft pulley has more play, the bolt that holds the pulley may need to be tightened. This bolt should be tightened to 170 inch/lbs.

If tightening does not reduce the play, the PTO power unit drive shaft needs to be shimmed.

 Look for oil leaks around the pulley. If you see oil, make sure that it did not come from the neutral plunger on the housing cover; this is an oil relief point.

If you suspect an oil leak from around the pulley, inspect the following:

a. The bolts holding the front bearing cap may not be sufficiently tightened.

b. The washers on the bolts that hold the front bearing cap may be worn or the bolts may not have been coated with non-hardening gasket sealer.

c. The front bearing cap gasket may have failed.

d. The front drive shaft oil seal may have failed; find out why.

**Tiller Attachment** — Tip the tiller so that you have a full view of the tiller attachment (see Figure 3-3). Then check the following:

 Inspect the area around the rear bearing cap for oil leaks. If you see an oil leak, inspect the following:



## PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 3-2 4/90

## **SECTION 3: Pre-Service Inspection**

a. The bolts holding the rear bearing cap may not be sufficiently tightened.

b. The washers on the bolts that hold the rear bearing cap may be worn or the bolts may not have been coated with non-hardening gasket sealer.

c. The rear bearing cap gasket may have failed.

• Inspect the left side of the tiller tine shaft for oil leaks. If you see an oil leak, inspect the following:

a. The tiller housing cover may not be sufficiently tightened; check all five bolts.

b. The washers on the bolts that hold the tiller housing cover may be worn or the bolts may not have been coated with non-hardening gasket sealer.

c. The tiller housing cover gasket(s) may have failed.

d. The tiller housing cover oil seal may have failed; find out why.

• Inspect the right side of the tiller tine shaft for oil leaks. If you see an oil leak, the oil seal needs to be replaced. Then, discover why the oil seal failed.

• Check the tiller tine shaft for play:

Using two hands, grasp the tiller tine shaft and rotate the shaft back and forth.

You should be able to rotate the shaft slightly and to hear a small click. This means the tiller tine shaft is shimmed correctly.

If you cannot rotate the shaft and do not hear a click, it means that the side cover needs to be shimmed outward using various thicknesses of gaskets. This procedure is explained in Section 6 of this manual (see "Tiller Tine Shaft Assembly").

Being able to rotate the shaft more than a small amount and hearing a louder click means the tiller tine shaft is either shimmed incorrectly (too many gaskets) or that the bronze worm gear is wearing out.

• There should be no end play, vertical play or diagonal play in the tiller tine shaft. If you find such play, tighten the tiller housing cover bolts.

If this does not eliminate the play, a shim may need to be installed on the tiller tine shaft, as explained in Section 6 of this manual.

PTO Power Unit and Tiller Attachment Drive Shaft

**Connection** — Engage the Tines/ PTO Clutch Lever and turn the pulley at the front of the PTO power unit. The dog clutches between the tiller attachment and the PTO power unit should engage and the tiller tine shaft should move as you turn the pulley. If the dog clutches do not engage, the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever may need to be adjusted.

## SECTION 4: Transmission Removal and Installation

PTO HORSE MODEL **TECHNICAL MANUAL** Page 4-1 4/90

The PTO Horse Model transmission consists of two separate transmission assemblies: the PTO Power Unit transmission and the Tiller Attachment transmission (see Figure 4-1). The transmission housings are held together by a locking collar, a dowel pin and two swing-bolts.

The PTO Power Unit transmission and the Tiller Attachment transmission can be removed from the tiller as a complete assembly by following the instructions in this section. Use Figure 4-2 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

If only the Tiller Attachment transmission needs to be removed from the tiller, refer to the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions on how to remove the transmission when the tiller is fully assembled.



WARNING: When servicing the machine, prevent unintentional starting of the engine by disconnecting the spark plug wire and keeping the wire away from the spark plug. Place the engine throttle control in the OFF position and shift the Wheels/Tines/PTO Drive Lever into NEUTRAL.

# DANGER

The battery produces inflammable and explosive hydrogen gas and the electrolyte solution contains poisonous and corrosive sulfuric acid. To avoid injury, carefully follow the safety precautions in the **Owner/Operator Manual** when removing and installing the battery.

## Transmission Removal

1. On tillers equipped with the **Operator Presence Control For**ward Interlock System (S/N 857307 and up), disconnect the Forward Interlock Wire Harness assembly (1) located on the right side of the handlebar base.

2. For electric start tillers only:

Remove the battery as dea. scribed in the Owner/Operator Manual.

b. Disconnect the red starter cable from the starter motor on the engine.

c. Disconnect the recharging wire that leads from the keyswitch wire harness to the engine.

d. For Briggs & Stratton engines only: Disconnect the green shutoff wire on the right side of the engine.



#### **PTO HORSE MODEL** SECTION 4: Transmission Removal and Installation **TECHNICAL MANUAL** 4/90

e. Remove the two mounting bolts and lockwashers that secure the legs of the battery bracket to the transmission cover and remove the bracket.

Page 4-2

3. Remove the forward bolt on the right side of the shift lever bracket. Remove the Forward Interlock Wire Harness plug connector with bracket (2) on tillers so equipped.

4. Wrap the engine half of the Forward Interlock Wire Harness assembly (on tillers so equipped) around the engine.

5. Remove the throttle control and cable (3) from the handlebar.

6. Remove the bolt (4) at the forward end of each side of the yoke. These are the bolts that attach the yoke to the engine mount. After you remove these bolts, pull the voke back.

Note: Take care to recover the bushing in each side of the yoke.

7. Remove the bumper/guard attachment. Or, remove the red plugs in the top of the engine mounting bars (5) if a bumper is not attached.

8. Loosen the jam nut on the bolt (6) that retains the engine mounting bar on each side of the PTO power unit. Then remove the bolt from each side.

9. Support the weight of the engine by placing a block under the engine. This is necessary to prevent the engine from falling off when you remove the final engine mounting bar.

10. Lubricate both engine mounting bars. Then, using a punch and taking care to not damage the threads in the top of the engine mounting bars, knock one of the engine mounting bars down and out of the transmission housing and motor mount.



Figure 4-2: Transmission Removal and Installation.

11. Remove the other engine mounting bar.

12. Remove the engine from the tiller.

13. Remove the two final bolts (7) that hold the yoke pivot links to the PTO power unit and remove the yoke.

Note: Take care to recover the bushing in each side of the yoke.

14. Remove the bolt (8) or T-handle that holds the handlebar mounting base to the transmission housing cover and remove the base and the attached handlebars.

15. Remove the bolt (9) that holds the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever knob (12) to the lever. Then remove the knob.

16. Remove the locknut that retains the wheel speed lever connecting rod swivel to the eccentric lever (10).

17. Remove the two final bolts from the shift lever bracket (11), one from the top left side and one from the right side. Then remove the bracket along with the attached Wheel Speed Lever and

Tines/PTO Clutch Lever detent shifting plate (15).

18. Remove the wheels from the wheel shaft. See the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions. Or, if the wheel is rusted on the shaft, see "Removing a Rusted Wheel" in Section 7 of this manual.

## Separating the Transmissions

1. Put the transmission (PTO power unit and tiller attachment assembly) on the floor, a workbench, or other surface that is comfortable for you.

2. Loosen the swing bolts (shown in Figure 4-1) that join the PTO power unit and tiller attachment.

3. Swing the bolts off the tiller attachment.



## **SECTION 4:** Transmission Removal and Installation

PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 4-3 4/90

## Attaching the Transmissions

1. Clean the surfaces of the transmissions where they join together.

2. Make sure the dog clutches have been greased. Fill the dog clutch cavity on the PTO power unit with grease up to where the rear of the PTO power unit widens to accept the tiller attachment. Then grease the dog clutch on the tiller attachment so that the dog clutch is covered with grease.

3. Align the locating pin on the PTO Power Unit housing with the locating hole on the tiller attachment housing and join the PTO power unit and tiller attachment. If necessary, turn the pulley on the front of the PTO power unit to adjust the dog clutch until it fits the tiller attachment dog clutch.

**Note:** If you put the Tines/PTO Clutch in neutral you will not have to line up the dog clutches.

4. Swing the bolts so that they connect to the tiller attachment.

5. Tighten the bolts. Use a torque wrench and tighten the bolts to 70-80 ft/lbs.

## Transmission Installation

1. Install the wheels.

2. Install the shift lever bracket (11) with the left-side bolt and right-side bolt (the one that goes in horizontally). Be sure that the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever (13) is installed through the slot in the detent plate (15). Make sure to tighten the bolts securely.

3. Install the Wheel Speed Lever connecting rod swivel on the eccentric lever (10).

4. Install the locknut that retains the swivel to the lever. Tighten the nut securely and then loosen it 1/8 turn.

5. Install the knob (12) on the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever (13) with the bolt (9).

6. Install the handlebar mounting base and the attached handlebars to the transmission housing cover with the long bolt (8) or T-handle.

7. Install the bolt, bushing, and washer (7) that holds the yoke pivot links to each side of the PTO power unit.

8. Apply a liberal coating of grease to the engine mounting bars (5).

9. Position the engine on the PTO power unit and support the engine with a block.

10. Install one of the engine mounting bars halfway. Use a rubber hammer to tap the bar down. Take care to not damage the threads in the top of the bar.

11. Back off the jam nut and install the locking bolt (6) for the bar. Turn the bolt until it is finger tight and you feel it strike the bar. Then maintain very light pressure on the bolt with a wrench.

12. Slowly tap the engine mounting bar the rest of the way in. When the groove in the bar reaches the bolt, the pressure on the bolt will be relieved.

13. Tighten the bolt until it is snug and then back off 1/4 turn. Next, hold the bolt with one wrench while tightening the jam nut with a second wrench.

14. Repeat the previous four steps for the other engine mount-ing bar.

15. Install the bumper on the tiller. If the tiller did not have a bumper, install the red plugs in the top of the engine mounting bars to protect the threads in the bumper mounting holes.

position and install the bolt, bushings, and washers (4) that hold each side of the yoke to the motor mount. If necessary, temporarily detach the clutch pawl spring before attaching the yoke. Be sure to reattach the spring after the yoke is installed.

17. Attach the throttle control cable (3) to the handlebar. Use plastic wire ties to secure the cable to the handlebar.

18. On tillers so equipped, attach the Forward Interlock System plug connector with bracket (2) to the top of the shift lever bracket and install the forward bolt on the right side of the shift lever bracket.

19. On tillers so equipped, connect the Forward Interlock System engine wire harness assembly to the handlebar wire harness assembly (1).



To help avoid personal injury, the Forward Interlock Safety System should be tested for proper functioning every time the tiller or PTO Power Unit is used. After completing all of the assembly steps, refer to "Test Operation of Forward Interlock Safety System" in the PTO Horse Model Owner/Operator Manual.

20. For electric start tillers only:

a. Attach the battery bracket to the transmission cover and attach the two mounting bolts and lockwashers that secure the legs of the bracket.

b. For Briggs & Stratton engines only: Connect the green shutoff

16. Set the yoke in the necessary endow halmers.com

#### PTO HORSE MODEL SECTION 4: Transmission Removal and Installation **TECHNICAL MANUAL** 4/90

c. Connect the recharging wire that leads from the keyswitch wire harness to the engine.

Page 4-4

d. Connect the red starter cable to the starter motor on the engine.

e. Install the battery as described in the Owner/Operator Manual.

21. Loosen the two bolts (14) that secure the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever detent plate (15) to the shift lever bracket.

22. Loosen the bolt (16) that secures the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever (13) to the eccentric shaft.

23. Move the lever until it is inside one of the two detent slots in the detent plate. Then tighten

the bolt (16) that holds the lever to the shaft. A correctly installed lever will have to be pulled out before you are able to slide the lever to the other detent slot.

24. With the lever in the ENGAGE position (both dog clutches must be fully engaged), slide the detent plate to the rear of the housing against the lever until it can go no further. Move the plate forward 1/16 of an inch and tighten the two detent plate mounting bolts (14). You should feel some lever play in either the ENGAGE or DISEN-GAGE position.

25. Install the drive belt on the engine and transmission pulleys and adjust the belt tension according to the directions found in the Owner/Operator Manual.

26. Check the operation of the Wheels/Tines/PTO Lever by shifting it into Forward, then Neutral and Reverse. The lever should hold properly in Forward and should release quickly from Reverse when you release the lever. Refer to the Owner/Operator Manual for information on making final adjustments to this important control lever.

27. Make sure that the transmissions for the power unit and the tiller attachment are correctly filled with gear oil.

PTO HORSE MODEL **TECHNICAL MANUAL** Page 5-1 4/90

The following subsections explain how to service various items on the PTO Horse Model Power Unit Transmission.



**WARNING:** When servicing the machine, prevent unintentional starting of the engine by disconnecting the spark plug wire and keeping the wire away from the spark plug. Place the engine throttle control in the OFF position and shift the Wheels/Tines/PTO Drive Lever into NEUTRAL.



## PTO Power Unit **Housing Cover**

These instructions describe how to service the PTO power unit housing cover. Use Figure 5-1 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

#### Removal

1. Remove the bolt (1) that holds the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever knob (2) to the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever. Then remove the knob.

2. Remove the two bolts (3) and washers (if present) from the top of the shift lever bracket (4).

Remove the bolt (5), lock-3.

washer (if present), and the washer (6) from the side of the shift lever bracket.

4 Remove the shift lever bracket.

5. Remove the locknut (7) that holds the speed shift lever connecting rod swivel (see inset) (8) to the eccentric lever (9).

6. Separate the tiller attachment from the PTO power unit. See "Separating the PTO Power Unit and Tiller Attachment Transmission Assembly" in Section 4 for instructions.

7. Set the PTO power unit on a bench or other comfortable work area.

8. If necessary, drain the transmission gear oil from the PTO power unit by loosening and removing the oil drain plug, which is located below the wheel shaft on the left side of the transmission housing. After the oil is drained, apply a coating of non-hardening gasket sealer on the threads and reinstall the oil plug. If the plug is damaged, use a new plug.

9. Remove the remaining two bolts (3) and lockwashers (if present) that secure the PTO power unit housing cover (11), and remove the cover.

10. Discard the gasket (12). BrentChalmers.com



# 

# STRICT St. FTO Power Unit Transvission

## lic<sub>e</sub>rerelle.n-

Thisse indianting differenties - tenso be begaged alleit periodent five PT-2 person with tentering deposite the rejettion to traject 2009 the schill spect have with think all show a schill allow perposit way the beam around party.

ilanın Thananglijeting,ışşarşını Laşşet (II: 1919 şələnə taşıbalını.

Simple the parts concern responsion. Simple Rolls → Sin: much Suprime the readon placement of a Si is beward (partainality of and anomalianse Some a Inseque Icept) part the physical concern base at a part of a solution from the solution of a feature, justice's the informaingtice)

4. Caseborn-the most (p-11 puck greats,

11. – Alexander Carlelaire - Prix pflucturgen: Maillelenge Bendts (2003) - Luraits Manilanyan, Dirawa Aniaits an 1.544 - Annar Ano-Dasada (d.

ar, <sup>11</sup> Loosaan 1000 piloonijar (riid) (riid) 21 yaali ami'u ani (alianan Ilaa (mali ar Il 18 yaalii ami'u ani (mali ang) 19 yaalii amiyo amiyo (mali (mali ani) 19 yaalii amiyo amiyo (mali (mali ani) 19 yaalii amiyo

11 (Net pinningter Hallt im spull-Roman am Rom fillingent, sachaan-Man pilosoper .mesaanktyrten het penningen statet Roge Jogr engeneting storpte 1, statet fat.

- Alexius — Haisheist Alexius an airsine hai Alexius Admin Arialisa an profiler Alexius II din Alex Patrolis faithere at airsing Annessante arealis demonymed.

# ALC OF

## lines Ethnillantitie com

-6. "Relfitter-Alleis gjeltenkansk ((7993)) And Marce Allenkaler.

2. Mari Dio-Amerikatia (24) and Sea Radiavatiana (17 pawari)) ii: Kia Amerika

<mark>" e se na degleticam filitas dianas literanamen debia da Mar della stata diana dianas regale distrikte dianamente:</mark>

nin Tanan serja dinin dilimiran karatakaring Nin dinin Paping generalar antali mine Diame Miking dinin dinin Distangan menanjari July: net Mare Allinie, Johnstownikinie al-Inne-Neudermalikings.

et. - Perilli - Con Roomanchadan anala Surar Col II: A-dolla si-fordalisia Aliaidana, - Sever the Aliability Copeniation Standard Institutions and Institution Institution and Institution

## <mark>Maangar</mark> Plangar Antaitikky

Wene waantiki alianaanaankilorina 1970) Sidanah walii Kalaaree Sidanah iliyaan Saandi Cisir oliaikai pilasiyyidi <del>Kaalaa</del> Miyeka Soot (Kalaate oor 10 Noo bial) Armeyyimat alii.

## 

1. Elledet (Cor Prin, 2014); mexicul alt dan mfanne peterne-dillet penern-dilation ato bion manifest pilongain: Really (1999).

ia. Dialectron alter incos pores can graduate diale ignored tree pitulagent Realizate incol (1989) contait il distante Real graduat in-Old annu Deel piturighter (1993).

-8. – Last-Max arduse maximum 1.41.

4. Henter the sparse carp.

Elaisa 19 paus don-karataking ab-8 1-19 Radatar arayinar yana mayoonarit wa silayarati shar ayaingganati hawailan Adar terto 19 Inte Stata apetriy held Inter teruset-fito atomati yitaria.

d. El gaza nom installing a man piarquer susceptible, sitement from ald, piarques, allys ring (100), frage cont site(, pros republic, currys), trais proj.

#### Ale vinighted for

R. Lines a Sectorede-recessed these subpcleng: (1981) Re: deno-generation of Almo-monimed pilonognes (583).

20. "Transo Tra Deega entre Sint 20. prima de la constante de la constante Unitedente de la constante

ta. "Asterika sa-danisi kanji milu danistika Kalalani madi - taniki segi nanamijera ingi Nya Matalaha da Tinis indonega kilandir.

41. – La Roffmaine Altre Handales Africanske adf. Diez rezultant planniger: 2023. 2. Theirand Rep planeyar hade (The area den artsoland thergoal cost finis the continuity planeyat.

i. Alle 1-ie sierden (1865 iet 164met int plangton.

7. Symply a sending at akain kupped held-istyling textopologies Date textilent at "the sedelicity pictury and "react the couldet pictury at hole the terming: mass.

21. – Marco Angeling agency om pro Istorer progen.

0. Thise Man Jakangan Rankiton, Jon 9 (700) and 6 to Memorie Elgine and gena long is all frequently strategies. This is a proposition where the strategies. This is a proposition where the strategies.

Vit. Burnsky-prises the plantyme minerality shows. Without the gravitation in the constant subjective which particular states, and basis of the method and without the solution the method and.

111. The International Internationa International Internation International Internationa International Internation

12. Periodade like-pylantypana joursmiya hinya Nia plangar waareldy.

192. – Josef Al alter palatospor ingénéras des la Camberge antés Algèntina dan Julia Julia Inat-Palg.

Téi, Jaljuté Gra plinegyar-anasemblyr Dar proposi remanin malitan byr aslaislegr mu llas-adhagistori: bashristikada he nga som angagigaratan tarchindi.

#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 5-3 4/90

## PTO Power Unit Drive Shaft

These instructions describe how to service the PTO power unit drive shaft. Before you can perform these instructions you must first remove the PTO power unit housing cover. See "PTO Power Unit Housing Cover" in this section for removal instructions.

Use Figure 5-2 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

Note: Either of two basic types of drive shafts may have been installed at the factory: an integral worm design (worm is machined directly from the shaft material), or a welded worm design (the worm is welded to the shaft and can be identified by blue welds at either end of the worm). Each design has its own part number and requires specific related parts. Before installing a new drive shaft or related drive shaft parts, first determine which type of shaft you are working with. See the tiller parts catalog for parts ordering information.

## Removal

1. Remove the bolt (1) that holds the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever (2) to the clutch lever eccentric shaft (3). Then remove the lever from the shaft.

2. Loosen the hex nut/bushing (6) on the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever shaft and remove the remainder of the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever assembly (6-9). Observe the part of the lever (9) that engages the dog clutch (5). If it is excessively worn or damaged, or if the customer has had difficulty engaging the tiller attachment, replace the part with a newer-style socket head screw that is included with a complete conversion kit (Part No.



10353). Refer to "Installing a New Tines/PTO Clutch Lever Assembly" in Section 7 of this manual.

3. Use snap ring pliers to remove the (external) snap ring (4) that retains the dog clutch (5) to the drive shaft (17). You will have to push in the dog clutch (5) to gain access to the snap ring.

4. Remove the dog clutch using a pair of needle nose pliers. Also make sure you retrieve the drive shaft key (10).

5. Remove the bolt (23) and concave washer (24) that hold the transmission pulley (25) to the drive shaft.

6. Remove the pulley and the drive shaft key (26). On welded drive shafts, remove the shoulder washer (27).

7. Remove the bolts (12) and lockwashers (13) that hold the front bearing cap (14).

9.

8. Remove the front bearing cap.

Use an arbor press to remove

bearing cap.

10. Remove and discard the gasket (16) from the front bearing cap.

11. Pull the drive shaft (17) forward slightly just enough to dislodge the shims (18). Remove the shims.

12. Remove the front bearing cup (20) from the housing.

**Note:** Keep each bearing cup paired with its bearing if you intend to reuse them. Each bearing cup wears differently according to its bearing.

13. Remove the drive shaft through the front of the transmission housing.

14. Insert a long bar in through the front of the transmission housing to knock out the rear oil seal (11). Be careful to not damage the inside of the housing, the bearing cup (20), or the retaining ring (21).

15. Put your hand down through the top of the housing and remove

the oil seal (15) from the from Brenthe Carlbearing cup (20) & you om

## PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 5-4 4/90

## **SECTION 5: PTO Power Unit Transmission**

cannot do this with your fingers, insert a long bar in through the rear of the housing to tap the bearing cup out. Be careful to not damage the inside of the housing or the (internal) snap ring (21).

16. The (internal) snap ring (21) can be removed (if necessary) by reaching through the rear of the transmission with snap ring pliers.

17. The front and rear drive shaft bearings (19) are pressed-on and can be removed (if necessary) with an arbor press and a bearing puller attachment. After removing the bearings, remove the shoulder washers (22), if so equipped.

## Inspection

These instructions describe how to inspect vital parts on the PTO power unit drive shaft. In addition to inspecting the parts you have removed, you should also inspect any replacement parts you will use.

**Note:** Thoroughly degrease and clean all parts before inspection.

#### Drive Shaft ----

1. The drive shaft should not be scored, pitted, or corroded where the oil seals are located.

• If the shaft is scored around the oil seal areas, discard the drive shaft.

• If the shaft is pitted around the oil seal areas you may be able to relocate the oil seals to a smooth area.

• If the shaft is corroded around the oil seal areas, try using fine (400 grit) emery cloth to clean the area.

2. Before installing the drive shaft you should use 400 grit emery cloth to polish the shaft up to and including the keyways. This will prevent cutting of the oil seals when they are installed.



3. The snap ring groove should be just wide enough to fit the snap ring. If the groove has expanded, discard the drive shaft.

Also, examine the edges of the snap ring groove. If the rear-facing edge on the groove is rounded off, you should not reuse the drive shaft as this edge bears the force of the snap ring. You can reuse the drive shaft if only the frontfacing edge is rounded off.

**Worm** — The threads on the worm should not be excessively worn. Since only the middle of the worm is in contact with the bronze worm gear on the pinion shaft assembly, you can compare the outside threads of the worm with the middle threads. If the width of the threads in the middle is half or less than the width of the threads at the ends of the worm, discard the drive shaft. See Figure 5-3.

Also, inspect the worm for heat damage. If the worm has a bluish color then proper lubrication has not been maintained; discard the drive shaft.

**Bearings** — If the bearing has a bluish color then proper lubrication has not been maintained; discard the bearing and bearing cup.

Also, if the bearing or its cup is scored or excessively worn, dirt

may have gotten inside to the shaft. If the cup is scored or excessively worn, discard the bearing and bearing cup.

Inspect for chipped or broken roller bearings, and inspect the bearing cage for damage.

**Note:** Bearings and bearing cups must be replaced in pairs. Do not mix old and new bearings and bearing cups.

#### Installation

Use Figure 5-2 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

1. Make sure the pinion shaft assembly is in place and correctly installed. See the pinion shaft installation instructions in this section.

 Install the (internal) snap ring
 that retains the rear bearing cup in the rear of the housing.

3. Install the rear bearing cup (20) with the tapered end facing forward to receive the bearing, by inserting it in through the top of the housing and setting it toward the rear. If necessary, use an old drive shaft inserted into the front of the housing to seat the bearing cup.

4. Using #30 weight oil, lightly lubricate both bearings on the drive shaft.

**Note:** Follow this procedure to install a new bearing on the drive shaft:

a. Place a shoulder washer (22) on the front and rear of the drive shaft. If reinstalling a shaft that did not have shoulder washers, do not install them.

b. Using an arbor press, install the bearings until they stop on the shaft. Use a bearing cup as a base to hold the bearing as you are pressing ton the bearing the bearing the bearing the bearing as you are

#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 5-5 4/90

c. Lightly lubricate the new bearings with #30 weight oil.

5. Insert the drive shaft (17) into the front of the housing.

6. Install the bearing cup (20) on the front bearing.

7. Place the front bearing cap (14) over the bore opening and seat it by tapping it with a mallet. A gasket (16) should not be on the bearing cap at this time. Hold the bearing cap firmly in place with one hand while you check the drive shaft for end play by pulling and pushing the drive shaft. Correct end play is between .005 and .010 of an inch.

a. If there is less than .005 of an inch play or if the end play is between .005 and .010 of an inch, then remove the bearing cap and place a gasket (16) on the cap. Check for end play again. If the end play is correct, go to step 8.

b. If there is more than .010 of an inch play, then remove the bearing cap and shim (18) accordingly. Test for end play again. If the end play is correct, remove the bearing cap and place a gasket (16) on the cap. Then go to step 8.

8. Install the front bearing cap and secure it with bolts (12) and lockwashers (13). If lockwashers are not available, apply a coating of non-hardening gasket sealer to the tip of the bolts.

9. Apply a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer to the outer sealing edge of the front bearing cap oil seal (15). Install the seal flush with the bearing cap.

10, Apply a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer to the outer sealing edge of the rear drive shaft oil seal (11). Install the seal and stop when you feel the seal hit the snap ring.

11. Apply a heavy coating of

grease to the dog clutch (5), including the groove in the outer surface. Slide the dog clutch on the drive shaft, making sure the three "ears" point to the rear of the transmission.

12. Align the keyway in the shaft and the keyway in the dog clutch and insert the key (10) all the way forward.

13. Using snap ring pliers, install the (external) snap ring (4) that retains the dog clutch to the drive shaft. The flat side of the snap ring should face the rear of the transmission. Although not easy to observe, the snap ring has a flat side and a rounded side.

14. Stick your finger in the eccentric shaft assembly hole and position the groove on the dog clutch in the center of the hole.

15. Apply a thin coating of grease to the socket head screw (or ball bearing assembly on earlier models) on the eccentric shaft assembly and the shifting arm (6-9). Then insert the assembly into the hole. Hold the assembly so that the socket head screw is at 12 o'clock.

16. Using your fingers, gently turn the hex nut/bushing (6) until the hex nut is snug against the power unit housing.

**Note:** The hex nut/bushing should turn freely at all times until the nut is against the housing.

Do not use force; you can damage the eccentric shaft or socket head screw. If necessary, back the nut off a few turns and rotate the eccentric shaft a fraction of a turn. Then try to thread the nut inward again.

17. Make sure that you have properly seated the screw head in the clutch groove. Rotate the eccentric shaft back and forth while looking through the rear of housing. The screw is properly seated if the clutch moves back and forth with each turn of the eccentric shaft.

18. Tighten the hex nut/bushing securely with a wrench.

19. Fill the dog clutch cavity with grease. Stop where the housing bore widens to accept the tiller attachment sleeve.

20. Attach the Tines/PTO Clutch Lever (2) and finger tighten the bolt (1) that holds the lever.

21. Install the PTO power unit housing cover. See the instructions in this section.

22. Install the drive shaft pulley by reversing steps 5 and 6 of the drive shaft removal instructions.

## Pinion Shaft Assembly

These instructions describe how to service the pinion shaft assembly. Before you can service the pinion shaft assembly you must first drain the transmission gear oil and remove the PTO power unit drive shaft assembly. See the drive shaft removal instructions in this section.

Use Figure 5-4 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

#### Removal

1. Using a 3/16-inch punch and a hammer, knock out the spirol roll pins (1) from the pinion bearing retaining plugs (2) on each side of the housing.

2. Using pump pliers or screw-in pullers, remove the pinion bearing retaining plugs.

3. Cut and discard the O-ring (3) from each retaining plug.

eccentric shaft back and forth 4. Remove the shims (4) from while looking through the read of the side of the housing COM

## PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 5-6 4/90

## **SECTION 5: PTO Power Unit Transmission**

5. Insert a 1/4-inch punch through the right side of the housing and use a hammer to drive the stem pinion shaft (5) and the key (6) to the left and out. Avoid damaging the bearing (7) in the right side of the housing. The bearing (7) and washer (8) in the left side of the housing will be attached to the pinion shaft. See Figure 5-5.

**Note:** Be careful not to damage the shaft or the inside of the housing.

As you drive the stem pinion shaft out, try to catch the washer (8) and shim (4A) in the right side of the housing on the end of the punch. If the washer and shim fall into the housing, be sure to remove them so they will not damage the transmission.

With the stem pinion shaft removed, the pinion gear cluster (9-12) can be removed from the housing.

6. Remove the bearing (7) from the right side of the housing. If the bearing does not come out easily, use a large punch to gently knock it out.

**Note:** Be careful to not damage the inside of the housing.

7. The following parts should not be disassembled unless inspection shows them to be worn or damaged.

8. Use an arbor press to remove the bearing (7) and washer (8) from the stem pinion (5). See Figure 5-5.

9. Use a snap ring pliers to remove the (external) snap ring (9) that retains the fast speed pinion gear (11) to the bronze worm gear (10).

10. Place the worm gear (10) on an open vise so that the fast speed gear (11) is hanging down between the vise jaws. Then use a 1-inch diameter bar to tap the fast speed gear down and off the worm gear. Check to make sure the key (12) also came off with the fast speed gear.

**Note:** Be careful to not damage the inside bore of the fast speed gear.

#### Inspection

These instructions describe how to inspect vital parts on the pinion shaft assembly. In addition to inspecting the parts you have removed, you should also inspect any replacement parts you will use.





Figure 5-4: Pinion Shaft Assembly.

**Note:** Thoroughly degrease and clean all parts before inspection.

**Bearings** — Hold the end of the stem pinion and spin the stem pinion bearing. If the bearing wobbles, or makes a growling noise, or cannot spin at all, replace the bearing with a new one. To test the other bearing, pinch it by the hole and spin it. If it wobbles, or makes a growling noise, do not reuse it.

**Stem Pinion** — If the gear teeth are broken or excessively worn, discard the stem pinion.

Fast Speed Pinion Gear — If the gear teeth are broken or excessively worn, discard the gear. Also, make sure the key is in good condition and is secure in the gear keyway.

**Bronze Worm Gear** — If the gear teeth are damaged or excessively worn, discard the gear.

**Side Plugs** — Check the groove where the O-ring seats; there should be no burrs or sharp edges to cut the O-ring. Use a fine file or 400 grit emery paper to smooth any rough spots.

Make sure the O-ring grooves are clean. Dirt or debris will prevent the O-rings from seating properly.

**Transmission Housing** — Make sure the transmission housing has no burrs or sharp edges that could cut the O-ring as you install the side plugs. Use a fine file or 400 grit emery paper to smooth any rough spots.

## Installation

Before you install the pinion shaft assembly the wheel shaft assembly must first be in place. See the wheel shaft installation instructions in this section.

Use Figure 5-4 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

1. Attach the key (12) to the outside keyway in the fast speed pinion gear (11). Make sure the key does not obstruct the snap ring groove.

2. Attach the bronze worm gear (10) to the fast speed pinion gear making sure the worm gear hub is placed towards the fast speed pinion gear. To attach, set the bronze worm gear on an open vise and seat the fast speed gear with a rubber mallet.

3. Attach the (external) snap ring (9) to the fast speed pinion gear. Make sure the rounded side of the snap ring is facing towards the fast speed gear. Though not easy to observe, the snap ring has a flat side and a rounded side.

4. Using an open vise and a rubber mallet, attach the washer (8) and bearing (7) to the left side of the stem pinion (5). If you are using a sealed bearing, make sure the seal faces out.

5. Use #30 weight oil to lubricate the two bearings (7).

6. Attach the key (6) to the stem pinion. Make sure the key is flush with the edge facing the worm \* gear. Then use a hammer and chisel to notch the back of the keyway in the stem pinion shaft. This will prevent the key from sliding back. See Figure 5-6.

7. Place the assembled worm gear (10) and fast speed pinion gear (11) into the housing. Position the empty keyway in the fast speed gear at 12 o'clock.

8. Support the assembly by inserting your finger through the right side of the transmission housing. Insert the stem pinion assembly in from the left side of the housing, carefully aligning the key in the stem pinion with the keyway in the fast speed gear. Using a soft mallet, drive the stemp

pinion in until the bearing is flush with the housing bore.

**Note:** Make sure the key does not become dislodged from the shaft.

Finish installing the stem pinion by using the pinion bearing retaining plug (2) as a driver. As you drive in the stem pinion, carefully align the gear teeth on the slow speed cast iron wheel gear with the teeth on the stem pinion. Drive the plug in until the spirol pin hole in the plug is aligned with the spirol pin hole in the transmission housing.

9. Line up the spirol pin hole in the housing with the hole in the plug and insert a punch in the hole. This will keep the stem pin<sub>T</sub> ion from moving when you install the bearing in the other side.

10. Install a washer (8) and shim (4A) on the right side of the stem pinion shaft.

**Note:** Use a .062" thick shim (4A) on the right side of the stem pinion shaft. This shim is the same



Figure 5-6: Notching the back of the Stem pinion

thickness as the washer (8). Using a shim that is the same thickness as the washer will prevent any warping of the washer.

4/00

PTO HORSE MODEL

**TECHNICAL MANUAL** 

Page 5-8

11. Using a mallet, install a bearing (7) flush with the right side housing bore. Then use the pinion bearing retaining plug (2) as a driver and seat the bearing, washer, and shim flush against the fast speed pinion gear.

12. Make sure the fast and slow speed pinion gears are flush against the worm gear.

13. Make sure the bearings are flush against their respective gears.

14. Line up the spirol pin hole on the right side retaining plug with the hole in the housing.

15. Center the worm gear. Use the drive shaft opening at the front of the PTO power unit to sight and center the gear. If the gear is not centered, tap the appropriate retaining plug inward until the gear is centered (hold the opposite plug firmly in place when driving a plug inward).

16. Repeat the previous two steps until the worm gear is centered as you view it through the opening in the front of the PTO power unit.

17. With the worm gear centered, push inward on the two retaining plugs and check to see if the spirol holes in the plugs and the housing are aligned. If a plug is not seated deeply enough, tap it in until the holes are aligned. If a plug is seated too deeply, remove it and insert one or more shims (4) until the holes are aligned.

18. Install O-rings (3) on each plug (2).

19. Use #30 weight oil to lubricate the O-rings and insert the plugs on each side.



20. Install the spirol pins (1) on each side.

21. With the wheel drive clutch in neutral, try to spin the bronze worm gear. It should turn easily, driving the two cast iron wheel gears as it turns. If the gear does not spin freely, strike the plugs (2) inward with a rubber hammer. This should free-up the pinion shaft assembly. If the gear still does not spin freely, it is shimmed too tightly.

## Wheel Shaft Assembly

These instructions describe how to service the wheel shaft assembly. For instructions on how to remove the wheel shaft without disassembling the entire PTO power unit, see "Removing the Wheel Shaft Without Disassembling the Transmission" in Section 7.

Use Figure 5-7 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.



#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 5-9 4/90

## Removal

Before you can service the wheel shaft assembly, you must first remove the pinion shaft assembly. See the pinion shaft removal instructions in this section.

1. Remove the left side oil seal (1). You can remove the seal with a screwdriver and hammer by tapping in at an angle and prying against the the transmission case (if necessary, use two screwdrivers positioned at opposite sides of the seal).

**Note:** Be careful not to damage the wheel shaft with the screw-driver(s) while prying.

2. Remove and discard the left side (external) snap ring (2) that retains the wheel shaft (5) inside the housing.

3. Use a magnet to remove the shim(s) (3). Discard the shim(s).

4. Shift the eccentric lever (12) into neutral. The clutch and gears must be disengaged.

5. Using a rubber mallet, tap the wheel shaft to the right while you slowly turn the fast speed (smaller) gear (4). The object is to line up the key (14) in the shaft with the keyway in the fast speed gear. This is a trial and error procedure. Keep trying until you feel the key in the shaft begin to advance through the fast speed gear. After the key begins to pass through the gear, continue until you remove the wheel shaft (5) along with the right side bronze bushing (8), oil seal (1), snap ring (6), and shims (7). Discard the bushing, oil seal, snap ring, and shims(s).

6. Check that the hi-pro key (14) is still attached to the wheel shaft. If it is not, retrieve it from inside the housing.

7. Lift the slow speed (larger) gear (9), fast speed gear, clutch

(10), and three clutch guide pins(11) out of the housing.

8. Remove and discard the bronze bushing (13) from the left side of the housing. Use an old wheel shaft inserted from the right-hand side to drive the bushing out.

#### Inspection

These instructions describe how to inspect vital parts on the wheel shaft assembly. In addition to inspecting the parts you have removed, you should also inspect any replacement parts you will use.

**Note:** Thoroughly degrease and clean all parts before inspection.

#### Wheel Shaft -

• If the wheel shaft is scored or pitted around the oil seal areas, you may be able to relocate the oil seals further out, or in, in order to avoid the damaged area.

• If there is corrosion around the oil seal areas, try using an emery cloth to clean the area. If the wheel shaft is badly scored or pitted around the oil seal areas, discard the wheel shaft.

• If the seal area is excessively worn, discard the wheel shaft.

• Examine both ends of the wheel shaft for burrs or rough edges that could prevent the shaft from passing through the gears or clutch. Use a file or emery cloth to remove any rough spots.

• If the outside edges of the snap ring grooves are rounded, you will have to discard the wheel shaft as these edges bear the force of the snap rings.

If the grooves have expanded you may be able to use shims to take up the slack. If not, discard the wheel shaft. has bubbled due to key movement, discard the wheel shaft. See "Testing for a Bubbled Wheel Shaft" in Section 7.

#### Fast and Slow Speed Gears —

- If there are any broken or excessively worn teeth, discard the gear.
- If the clutch dogs have worn a groove more than 1/4 through the wall of the gear (usually due to speed shifting), discard the gear.

#### Clutch —

- If the clutch dogs are excessively rounded, discard the clutch.
- If any clutch dogs are missing, discard the clutch.
- If the keyway is damaged, you may be able to straighten it with a file. Otherwise, discard the clutch.

**Note:** If the keyway is too wide, the wheel shaft is more likely to bubble and you may need to replace the wheel shaft soon afterwards.

Gear Shifting Guide Pins — Make sure the guide pins are absolutely straight. If a pin is even slightly bent, discard it.

#### Installation

Before you install the wheel shaft assembly, the eccentric shaft assembly must first be installed. See the eccentric shaft installation instructions in this section.

Use Figure 5-7 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

1. Before installing the wheel shaft:

- Make sure the hi-pro key (14) is firmly seated in the keyway.
- Make sure the clutch (10) and fast speed gear (4) pass freely over the hi-pro key in the wheel
- If the area around the key Brenhard Therail any binding.com

## PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 5-10 4/90

## **SECTION 5: PTO Power Unit Transmission**

check for burrs or rough edges either on the key or in the keyway.

- Make sure there are no burrs or rough edges in the bore opening of the slow speed gear (9).
- Using a spray lubricant, lubricate the clutch where the shaft and pins will fit.

2. Insert the three clutch guide pins (11) into the clutch. If a guide pin binds, discard it and use a new one.

3. Assemble the fast gear, clutch, and slow gear; the gear hubs face out.

4. Insert a piece of wood between the eccentric lever (12) and the housing to relieve the pressure of the eccentric shaft (15) on the clutch as you are installing it.

5. Gently place the gear and clutch assembly into the housing so that the eccentric pin (16) fits into the groove on the clutch. Make sure the smaller (fast speed) gear is on the right side.

6. Look through the wheel shaft opening and line up the keyways on the fast speed gear and clutch.

7. Insert the wheel shaft through the right side and slip it through the gears and clutch.

8. Remove the piece of wood from the eccentric lever and check to make sure the eccentric shaft can move freely from side to side.

9. Using #30 weight oil, lubricate the bronze bushings (8, 13).

10. Making sure the oil pick-up grooves are facing in, use a hammer to insert a bronze bush-ing (8 or 13) about 1/8 of the way in the housing.

11. Using a rubber hammer and driver, and making sure the oil pick-up grooves are facing in,

install the other bronze bushing (8 or 13) so that the edge of the bushing is flush with the edge of the counterbore in the transmission housing. Then finish installing the other bushing in a similar manner.

12. Use a rubber hammer to strike down on the wheel shaft on both sides of the housing. This will loosen the shaft and make it easy to turn.

13. On the left or right side (it doesn't matter which side), insert a .062" wheel shaft shim (3, 7) and then install a snap ring (2, 6). Gently tap this end of the shaft inward so that the snap ring is flush against the bushing.

**Note:** The snap ring has two sides: a flat side and a rounded side. Make sure the flat side is against the outside edge of the groove.

14. Go to the other side of the housing and shim (3, 7) the gap between the bushing and the snap ring groove.

15. Install the snap ring (6) after you shim the wheel shaft.

16. Using a rubber hammer, tap down on both ends of the wheel shaft. Then check for end play. There should be between .005" and .015" play in the shaft. Add or remove shims as needed.

17. Turn the wheel shaft with your hand; it should spin freely. Also, there should be no vertical or diagonal play. Vertical or diagonal play indicates a worn bronze bushing.

 Apply a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer to the outside edges of the two oil seals (1) and install them at each end of the wheel shaft. Each seal should be flush with the edge of the transmission housing.

## Eccentric Shaft Assembly

These instructions describe how to service the eccentric shaft assembly. Before you can remove the eccentric shaft you must first remove the wheel shaft. See the wheel shaft removal instructions in this section.

Use Figure 5-8 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

#### Removal

1. Remove the wheel speed shifting pin (1) from the eccentric shaft.

2. Turn the housing upside down. Use a 5/32-inch drift to remove the spirol roll pin (2) that retains the eccentric lever (4) to the eccentric shaft (3).

3. From the outside of the housing, tap the eccentric shaft (3) inward until you remove the eccentric lever (4).

4. Continue tapping the eccentric shaft inward until the shaft drops into the housing.

5. Remove the spring (6) and washer (7) from the shaft.

6. Remove and discard the eccentric shaft oil seal (5). You can use a small screwdriver to pry it out.

## Inspection

If the seal area on the eccentric shaft is excessively worn or scored, discard the eccentric shaft. Minor scoring can be removed with an emery cloth.

#### Installation

Use Figure 5-8 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

1. Put the eccentric shaft spring (6) and washer (7) on the eccentric shaft (3).

2. Insert the eccentric shaft assembly and the PTO power uniters.com



#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 5-11 4/90



housing. Make sure the shifting arm on the eccentric shaft is facing up, or at 12 o'clock, inside the housing.

3. Apply a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer to the eccentric shaft oil seal (5) and use a seal driver to install it flush with the transmission housing.

4. Start the spirol roll pin (2) in the eccentric lever (4) while the lever is still on the workbench. Then install the lever on the eccentric shaft. Make sure the lever is extended to the right side of the housing.

5. Install the wheel speed shifting pin (1) in the eccentric shaft.

#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 6-1 4/90

## SECTION 6: Tiller Attachment Transmission

This section describes the the procedures for servicing the tiller attachment transmission.

## Tiller Drive Shaft Assembly

These instructions describe how to remove, inspect, and install the tiller attachment's drive shaft.

Use Figure 6-1 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

**Note:** Either of two basic types of drive shafts may have been installed at the factory: an integral



**WARNING:** When servicing the machine, prevent unintentional starting of the engine by disconnecting the spark plug wire and keeping the wire away from the spark plug. Place the engine throttle control in the OFF position and shift the Wheels/Tines/PTO Drive Lever into NEUTRAL.

worm design (the worm is machined directly from the shaft material), or a welded worm design (the worm is welded to the shaft and can be identified by blue welds at either end of the worm). Each design has its own part number and requires specific related parts. Before installing a new drive shaft or related drive shaft parts, first determine which type of shaft you are working with. See the tiller parts catalog for parts ordering information.

## Removal

1. Set the tiller housing in a vise and tighten the vise jaws around the metal plate that contains the bolt hole for the depth regulator drag bar (see Figure 6-1).

2. Push the dog clutch (1) into the housing (the clutch is under spring tension) until you see the forward (external) snap ring (2) that retains the dog clutch. Then remove the snap ring with a pair of snap ring pliers.



## **SECTION 6: Tiller Attachment Transmission**

3. Remove the dog clutch and the key (3).

4. Remove the dog clutch spring (4).

5. Remove the dog clutch shim (5).

6. Remove the second (external) snap ring (2a).

7. Remove the three bolts (6) that secure the rear bearing cap (7), also removing and discarding the nylon washers (8), if any. Have a pan ready to catch the gear oil that will pour out when you remove the rear bearing cap in the next step.

8. Remove the rear bearing cap and the gasket (9). Discard the gasket.

9. Use a rubber hammer to tap the forward end of the drive shaft (11) toward the rear of the housing. As you are tapping the shaft, catch the bearing cap shims (10) and bearing cup (12) at the rear of the shaft. Discard the shims. Drive the shaft out until the drive shaft worm clears the housing. Leave the drive shaft in this position until you complete step 10.

**Note:** Keep each bearing cup paired with its bearing if you intend to reuse them. Each bearing cup wears differently according to its bearing.

10. Remove the tiller tine shaft assembly. See the tiller tine shaft removal instructions in this section. You must remove the tiller tine shaft before you can completely remove the tiller drive shaft.

11. Remove the tiller drive shaft.

12. Remove the oil seal (13) by placing a long bar through the rear of the housing and tapping the seal out.

Take care not to damage the bear-

ing cup (14), snap ring (15), or tiller housing.

13. Remove the (internal) snap ring (15) that retains the front bearing cup (14) using a pair of snap ring pliers.

14. Remove the bearing cup. If the bearing cup resists, insert an old tiller drive shaft into the back of the transmission housing and use its bearing to nudge the bearing cup forward. It is not recommended that you use a good drive shaft for this.

**Note:** Remember to keep track of which bearing cups go with which bearings. You will need to assemble them in the same pairs.

15. After the drive shaft is removed and you have an empty tiller housing, thoroughly degrease and clean the inside and outside of the housing.

16. The drive shaft bearings (16) are pressed-on and can be removed (if necessary) with an arbor press and a bearing puller attachment. On the welded worm style drive shaft only, remove the shoulder washer (17) after removing the front bearing.

#### Inspection

These instructions describe how to inspect parts on the tiller drive shaft. In addition to inspecting the parts you have removed from the tiller housing, you should also inspect any replacement parts you will use.

**Note:** Thoroughly degrease and clean all parts before inspection.

#### Drive Shaft ---

• The drive shaft should not be scored, pitted, or corroded where the oil seal is located. If the shaft is lightly corroded, you might be able to clean it using an emery cloth. If the shaft is slightly scored or pitted you might be able to adjust the position of the front seal so that it is seated on a smooth part of the shaft. If the drive shaft is excessively pitted or corroded, especially in the area where the oil seal seats, discard the drive shaft.

• Inspect the drive shaft for burrs or rough spots at the ends of the shaft and where the bearings fit on the shaft. Use a file or emery cloth to remove rough spots or burrs, being careful not to remove too much metal where the bearings will be seated. (Doing so will prevent the proper fit of the bearings on the shaft.)

• The keyway should be just wide enough for the key to fit. If the keyway expands and becomes too wide; discard the tiller drive shaft.

• The two snap ring grooves should be just wide enough to fit the snap ring. If the groove becomes too wide, you will have to discard the tiller drive shaft.

Also, the forward-facing edges of the grooves should not be rounded off; these are the edges that bear the force of the snap ring. If this edge is rounded you must discard the tiller drive shaft.

**Worm** — The worm should not be excessively worn. Since only the middle of the worm is in contact with the bronze worm gear on the tiller tine shaft, you can compare the end of the worm (on the tiller drive shaft) with the middle. If the width of the teeth in the middle is half or less than the width of the teeth at the ends, discard the tiller drive shaft.

Also, inspect the worm for heat damage. If the worm has a bluish color then proper lubrication has not been maintained; discard the tiller drive shaft.

Bearings — If the bearing has a bluishceonne proper up rate of the proper blue of the blue



#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 6-3 4/90

## **SECTION 6: Tiller Attachment Transmission**

tion has not been maintained; discard the bearing and bearing cup.

Also, if the bearing or its cup is scored or excessively worn, dirt may have gotten inside the transmission. If the cup is scored or excessively worn, discard the bearing and bearing cup.

Inspect for chipped or broken roller bearings, and inspect the bearing cage for damage.

## Installation

Use Figure 6-1 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

1. Spread a layer of #30 weight oil on the inside of the front bearing cup (14). Make sure the beveled cup is facing the correct way to receive the bearing and insert the bearing cup into the front of the tiller housing.

**Note:** Remember to match the bearings to the bearing cups as you found them before disassembly.

2. Install the (internal) snap ring (15) used to retain the front bearing cup. Make sure the flat side of the snap ring is towards the front of the tiller attachment (towards the PTO power unit). Although not easy to observe, the snap ring has a flat side and a rounded side.

If you have some difficulty inserting the snap ring in the groove, insert the ring past the groove. Then use the drive shaft to slide the ring forward and into the groove.

3. Using #30 weight oil, lubricate both bearings on the drive shaft.

**Note:** Follow this procedure to install new bearings on the drive shaft:

a. On the welded worm style drive shaft only, place the shoulder washer (17) on the front of the drive shaft.

b. Lubricate the new bearings with #30 weight oil.

c. Using an arbor press, install the front bearing until it stops at the drive shaft shoulder. Install the rear bearing until it stops against the worm.

4. Insert the tiller drive shaft (11) through the rear of the tiller housing.

5. Spread a layer of #30 weight oil on the inside of the rear bearing cup (12). Make sure the beveled cup is facing the correct way to receive the bearing. Insert the bearing cup into the back of the tiller housing.

6. Place a gasket (9) on the rear bearing cap (7) and gently tap the cap into place. Securely attach the cap with all three screws but do not use a gasket sealer on the screws or install nylon washers at this point. You will next check for play in the drive shaft.

7. Using a mallet, tap the drive shaft to the rear to seat the bearing cup. Push and pull the forward end of the tiller drive shaft. You should feel between .005" and .010" play in the shaft.

Remove the rear bearing cap and shim accordingly (start with the thinnest shims). Repeat this procedure until the forward and backward play in the drive shaft is between .005" and .010".

8. Remove the three screws from the rear bearing cap.

9. Install the rear bearing cap and secure it with screws (6) and nylon washers (8). If washers are not available, you can coat the tip of the screws with a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer.

10. Apply a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer to the outside edge of the tiller drive remove the tiller drive shaft. See

shaft oil seal (13). Then install the oil seal.

11. Install the (external) rear snap ring (2a) that retains the dog clutch to the shaft. Make sure the flat side of the snap ring is towards the rear of the tiller attachment.

12. Install the dog clutch shim (5).

13. Install the dog clutch spring (4).

14. Install the key (3) in the keyway.

15. Slide the dog clutch (1) over the key, with the "ears" on the clutch facing forward.

16. Push the dog clutch in and install the (external) snap ring (2) that retains the dog clutch to the shaft. Make sure the flat side of the snap ring is towards the front of the tiller attachment.

If you have some difficulty inserting the snap ring in the groove, insert the ring past the groove. Then let the dog clutch slide forward and it will push the ring forward into the groove.

17. Install the tiller tine shaft. See the instructions in this section.

## Tiller Tine Shaft Assembly

These instructions describe how to remove, inspect, and install the tiller attachment's tine shaft assembly.

Use Figure 6-2 as a reference for part locations in these instructions.

## Removal

You will have to disassemble the tiller tine shaft assembly to replace a damaged worm gear, bearing, or shaft. Also, you will have to remove the tiller tine shaft to

## SECTION 6: Tiller Attachment Transmission

PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 6-4 4/90

the Owner/Operator Manual for instructions on how to remove the bolo tine holders.

1. Remove the five bolts (1) and nylon washers (2), if any, that secure the tiller housing cover (3). Discard the washers. Have a pan ready to catch the gear oil that will pour out when you remove the housing cover in the next step.

2. Remove the housing cover by gently tapping the right side of the tine shaft inward with a soft mallet.

3. Discard the tiller housing cover gasket(s) (4).

4. Use a soft mallet to strike inward on the right side of the tiller tine shaft (5). If necessary, strike downward on the right side of the shaft. This will collapse the right side oil seal (6) and help the tiller cluster to come out.

5. Remove the tiller tine shaft (5) and the attached gear and bear-

ings from the tiller housing.

6. It is possible that you are removing the tiller tine shaft as part of the tiller drive shaft removal procedure. Regardless of why you are removing the tiller tine shaft, you must replace the oil seals. When you have the opportunity, perform the following two steps.

a. Put the tiller housing cover on an open vise so that the ends of the cover are supported. Tap out the oil seal (6) and discard it.

**Note:** Do not pry or tap directly on the side of the cover. Doing so could damage or score the bearing cup or the inside of the cover.

b. Turn the transmission housing on one side and tap out the oil seal (6) from the right side of the housing.

**Note:** Be careful not to damage or score the bearing cup or the inside of the housing.

7. Remove the bearing cup (8) from the right side of the tiller housing, using a punch to drive the cup inward. Be careful not to damage the inside of the tiller housing.

**Note:** You only need to remove this bearing cup if you will be using a new right side roller bearing. If you replace a bearing you must also replace the bearing cup.

Keep each bearing cup paired with its bearing if you intend to reuse them. Each bearing cup wears differently according to its bearing.

8. Use a punch to remove the bearing cup from the housing cover (only if you are installing a new left side roller bearing).

9. To disassemble the gear and bearing assembly:

a. Place the tiller tine shaft assembly on an arbor press.



PTO HORSE MODEL **TECHNICAL MANUAL** Page 6-5 4/90

## SECTION 6: Tiller Attachment Transmission

b. Force the shaft down. This will dislodge one bearing (7). Also remove the washer (9), if so equipped.

10. Turn the shaft assembly 180 degrees and use the arbor press to dislodge the other bearing (and washer, if so equipped).

11. Slide the worm gear (10) off the shaft.

12. Remove the Woodruff key (11), if necessary.

#### Inspection

These instructions describe how to inspect parts on the tiller tine shaft. In addition to inspecting the parts you have removed, you should also inspect any replacement parts you will use.

Note: Thoroughly degrease and clean all parts before inspection.

Tiller Tine Shaft - The shaft should not be scored, pitted, or corroded in the areas where the oil seals are located. If the shaft is scored, pitted, or corroded, try using an emery cloth to clean the area. If the scoring, pitting, or corrosion is too extensive, discard the shaft.

Also, remove any burrs or rough spots on the ends of the shaft.

Bronze Worm Gear - If the gear teeth are damaged or excessively worn, discard the gear.

Bearings — If the bearing has a bluish color then proper lubrication has not been maintained: discard the bearing and bearing cup.

Also, if the bearing or its cup is scored or excessively worn, dirt may have gotten inside the housing. If so discard the bearing and bearing cup.

Test each roller in the bearing by spinning it with your fingers. If a roller makes a growling noise or

does not move at all, discard the bearing.

#### Washers (on tillers so equipped)

You will only be able to inspect the washers if you should need to disassemble the shaft. If a washer is warped, discard it.

#### Installation

1. Install the Woodruff key (11) in the shaft.

2. Slide the bronze worm gear (10) on the shaft. The worm gear should be centered over the key.

3. Use an arbor press to replace a bearing (and washer, if so equipped). Make sure the washer is between the bearing and the bronze worm gear.

Note: If an arbor press is not available, use the housing cover (without the oil seal installed) as a centering device. Simply support the cover on open vise jaws and place the bearing in the bearing cup (cup must be installed in cover). Add the washer (if so equipped) and tap the shaft down with a soft mallet. Repeat this procedure for the other end, making sure the bronze worm gear is centered over the key.

4. Turn the shaft 180 degrees and use an arbor press to replace the other bearing (and washer, if so equipped). Check to make sure the bronze worm gear is centered over the key.

5. Use an emery cloth to clean the tine shaft, especially around the oil seal locations.

6. Replace the bearing cup (8) in the housing cover (3) by using a piece of wood as a driver to seat the cup. Make sure the tapered bearing cup is oriented correctly to receive the bearing. Also make sure the bearing cup goes fully inside the cover; no metal should and the inside edge of the coverner and 010 gesker togethers f these man

7. Use the same technique to replace the bearing cup (8) in the right side of the tiller housing.

8. If not already installed, install the tiller drive shaft assembly. See the installation instructions in this section.

9. Insert the tiller tine shaft assembly (5) in the tiller housing. Make sure the side on the bronze worm gear whose gear edges are the sharpest is facing towards the rear of the machine.

Note: Since the front of each gear tooth gets little wear and the rear of each tooth gets most of the wear, rotate the gear so that the best side is facing the rear.

10. Install a new gasket (4) on the tiller housing cover (3). As you begin the shimming procedure, start with the thinnest gasket, which is .010". Do not install the oil seals (6) at this time.

11. Bolt the cover on using two bolts (1) about 180 degrees apart.

Note: Even without the bolts installed, you should not be able to wiggle the cover from side to side or rotate it. Do not use the cover if you can.

12. Check the tine shaft for play:

a. Using two hands, grasp the tiller tine shaft and rotate the shaft back and forth

b. You should be able to rotate the shaft slightly and to hear a small click. This means the tiller tine shaft is shimmed correctly.

c. If you cannot rotate the shaft and do not hear a click, remove the .010" gasket and install a .030" gasket. If necessary, begin using gaskets in pairs to gradually increment the thickness of the gasket. For example, if a .030" gasket is insufficient, use a .030"

## **SECTION 6: Tiller Attachment Transmission**

PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 6-6 4/90

are not sufficient, use two .030" gaskets, etc. until the shaft is shimmed correctly.

**Note:** No more than .060" in total gasket thickness should be needed to correctly shim the tine shaft. Call the Troy-Bilt Technical Service Department if more than .060" shimming is required.

d. There should be no end play, vertical play or diagonal play in the tiller tine shaft. If you find such play, tighten the tiller housing cover bolts.

If this does not eliminate the play, insert a shim (Part No. 1447-1,

1447-2 or 1447-3) between the gear and bearing on the tiller tine shaft.

13. Repeat the previous two steps until you feel the correct amount of play in the tiller tine shaft.

14. Using new washers (2), fully bolt the cover in place. These are nylon washers that function as an oil sealer. If the washers are not available, coat the tips of the bolts with a non-hardening gasket sealer.

15. Apply a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer to the outside edge of an oil seal. Then install the oil seal on the right side of the tiller housing so that the seal is flush with the housing.

16. Apply a layer of nonhardening gasket sealer to the outside edge of another oil seal. Then install the oil seal on the left side of the tiller housing so that the outside edge of the seal is flush with the housing.

17. Refill the housing with gear oil according to the instructions found in the Owner/Operator Manual.

PTO HORSE MODEL **TECHNICAL MANUAL** Page 7-1 4/90

## **SECTION 7: Special Repairs and Procedures**

## Installing a New Tines/PTO /Clutch Lever Assembly

In early model PTO Horse models, a ball bearing assembly on the Tines/PTO Clutch Shaft functioned as the contact piece that moved the PTO power unit dog clutch to engage the tiller attachment dog clutch. However, time has demonstrated that the ball bearing wears prematurely in this situation. Therefore, a common maintenance/service procedure is to replace the old ball bearing assembly with a new style screwhead assembly and a new style dog clutch.

The Part Number 10353 service kit contains all the parts necessary to perform this procedure.

#### Removing the Existing Assembly

1. Separate the tiller tine attachment from the PTO power unit. See "Separating the Transmissions" in Section 4.

2. Make the PTO power unit level (horizontal).

3. Remove the bolt (1) that olds the clutch lever knob (2) to the clutch lever (3). Then remove the clutch lever knob and bolt (see inset, Figure 7-1).

4. Remove the bolts (4) that hold the detent plate (5). Then remove the detent plate. (See inset, Figure 7-1).

5. Remove the bolt (6) that holds the clutch lever to the eccentric shaft (11) and remove the clutch lever.

6. Unscrew the eccentric shaft hex nut/bushing (7). Then lift the shaft up (tilting the assembly in the housing down) and withdraw the assembly from the housing.



WARNING: When servicing the machine, prevent unintentional starting of the engine by disconnecting the spark plug wire and keeping the wire away from the spark plug. Place the engine throttle control in the OFF position and shift the Wheels/Tines/PTO Drive Lever into NEUTRAL.



Discard the eccentric shaft assembly.

7. Remove and discard the (external) snap ring (8) that retains the dog clutch (9) to the drive shaft.

8. Remove and discard the dog clutch.

9. Remove and discard the key (10) that holds the dog clutch on the drive shaft.

#### Installing a New Assembly

1. Apply a coating of grease to the new dog clutch (9) (Part No. 2120-3) and slide it on the drive shaft. Make sure the three ears

point toward the rear of the transmission.

2. Align the keyway in the shaft and the keyway in the dog clutch and insert the new key (10) (Part No. 9301) all the way forward.

3. Install a new (external) snap ring (8) (Part No. 9500) to retain the dog clutch to the drive shaft. Install the flat side of the snap ring facing the rear of the transmission. Although not easy to observe, the snap ring has a flat side and a rounded side.

4. Stick your finger in the eccentric shaft assembly hole; you want to position the groove on the Chalmers.com Brent

## **SECTION 7: Special Repairs and Procedures**

PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 7-2 4/90

dog clutch in the center of the hole.

5. Apply a thin coating of grease to the socket head screw (12) on the eccentric shaft assembly. Then insert the assembly into the hole. Hold the assembly so that the socket head screw is at 12 o'clock.

6. Using your fingers only, gently thread the eccentric shaft hex nut/bushing (7) until the hex nut is snug against the power unit housing.

The hex nut/bushing should turn freely at all times until the nut is against the housing. Do not use force; you can damage the eccentric shaft or socket head screw. If necessary, back the nut off a few turns and rotate the eccentric shaft a fraction of a turn. Then try to thread the nut inward again.

7. Make sure that you have properly seated the screw head in the clutch groove. Rotate the eccentric shaft back and forth while looking through the rear of housing. The screw is properly seated if the clutch moves back and forth with each turn of the eccentric shaft.

8. Tighten the hex nut/bushing securely with a wrench.

9. Fill the dog clutch cavity with grease. Stop where the housing bore widens to accept the tiller attachment sleeve.

10. Attach the clutch lever (3) and finger tighten the bolt (6) that holds the clutch lever.

11. Install the detent plate (5) and loosely install the two bolts(4) that hold the detent plate; do not tighten the bolts yet.

12. Install the clutch lever knob (2) and the bolt (1) on the clutch lever.

13. Move the lever until it is

inside one of the two detent slots cut into the detent plate. Then tighten the bolt that holds the lever. A correctly installed lever will have to be pulled out before being able to slide it over to the other detent stop.

14. With the lever in the ENGAGE position, slide the detent plate to the rear of the housing against the lever until it can go no further. Move the plate forward 1/16 of an inch and tighten the two detent-plate mounting screws. You should feel some lever play in either the ENGAGE or DISEN-GAGE position.

## Removing a Rusted Wheel

If you need to remove the wheel shaft and the left wheel or both wheels are rusted to the shaft, follow these instructions. If only the right wheel is rusted to the wheel shaft, you can still remove the wheel shaft by following the instructions in Section 5 of this manual. Once the wheel shaft is off you can soak the rusted wheel(s) in a penetrating lubricant until you can remove it.

1. Remove the roll pin that holds the wheel to the wheel shaft. If the pin does not come out smoothly, tap it out using another pin as a driver. It is important to use a pin that is the same size.

2. Remove the hubcap.

3. Spray a penetrating lubricant into the wheel hub and let it soak.

4. Raise the wheels off the ground and leave them suspended in the air.

5. Insert an old wheel shaft into the hub until it butts against the tiller's wheel shaft. Then, using the old shaft as a driver, strike the end of the old shaft with a hammer. **Note:** Only strike a few times and not very hard. You do not want to run the risk of popping the snap ring out of its groove. Doing so will make it very difficult to remove the wheel.

6. If you are successful, the wheel will begin to vibrate off the wheel shaft.

7. If you are not successful, you will have to saw the rusted wheel off. Then, the wheel shaft can be removed by following the instructions in Section 5 of this manual.

**Note:** Soak the rim of the sawedoff wheel in lubricant overnight. Then use an arbor press to remove the shaft from the wheel.

## Removing the Wheel Shaft Without Disassembling the Transmission

This wheel shaft removal and replacement method may take some practice before you are truly proficient, but it can save you time in removing, inspecting and replacing a wheel shaft because you do not have to separate the transmission from the tiller or disassemble the transmission.

See Figure 7-2 as a reference for the part numbers in this section.

## Removal

1. Remove the oil drain plug and drain the transmission gear oil. Inspect the plug and if it is not damaged, replace it after the oil is drained.

2. Remove both wheels. See the Owner/Operator Manual for Instructions.

Note: If a wheel is rusted to the shaft, see "Removing a Rusted Wheel"methasection



#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 7-3 4/90

## **SECTION 7: Special Repairs and Procedures**



3. From the left side of the wheel shaft, remove the oil seal (1), the (external) snap ring (2), and the shim(s) (3). See Section 5 in this manual for more details.

4. From the right side of the wheel shaft, remove the oil seal (1).

5. Insert a screwdriver in the hole on the right side of the wheel shaft. This is the hole for the spirol pin that holds the wheel hub to the shaft.

6. Shift the Wheel Speed Lever so that the clutch is in NEUTRAL.

7. Strike the left side of the shaft with a rubber hammer. The shaft will move inward until the hi-pro key (14) on the shaft hits the side of the fast speed wheel gear (4). Slowly rotate the shaft with the screwdriver and continue to strike the left side of the shaft with the hammer. You are trying to align the key (14) in the shaft with the keyway in the fast speed wheel gear to permit the removal of the shaft.

Continue hitting the shaft until you feel it passing through the fast speed gear. Then finish driving the shaft out.

**Note:** If you had to saw the left wheel off, you will have to use an old wheel shaft as a driver. This will require you to find someone to assist you in turning the screwdriver while you hold the old shaft and hammer.

As you tap the drive shaft out, the key in the shaft will also remove the right-side bushing, snap ring, shim(s), and oil seal.

8. Using a long punch inserted from the right side of the housing, remove the bronze bushing (13) from the left side of the housing. You will have to pass the punch through the clutch and wheel speed gears.

9. Disassemble and inspect the wheel shaft. See Section 5 in this manual for more details.

## Installing the Wheel Shaft

1. Install a hi-pro key (14) in the wheel shaft.

2. Inspect the new wheel shaft for burrs or other rough spots that could make inserting the shaft through the gears and clutch difficult. If necessary, use emery cloth to remove any rough spots.

3. Pull the eccentric lever (12) back and wedge it. This releases the eccentric shaft (15) pressure on the clutch (10).

4. Line up the keyways on the fast speed wheel gear (4) and clutch (10). Use a screwdriver inserted through the right side of the housing to position them at 12 o'clock.

5. Lubricate the wheel shaft (5).

6. With the key in the wheel shaft positioned at 12 o'clock, insert the shaft through the right side. Do not use force; do not use a hammer.

## **SECTION 7: Special Repairs and Procedures**

#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 7-4 4/90

**Note:** If necessary, you can remove the power unit housing cover to move the gear and clutch by hand.

8. Complete the installation of the wheel shaft. See Section 5 of this manual for more information.

## Identifying a Bubbled Wheel Shaft

A wheel shaft is bubbled when the metal around the keyway raises or swells slightly. This weakening of the metal is due to excessive pressure being exerted by the clutch on the hi-pro key to turn the wheels. This is often caused by improper shifting or by the wheels striking an object that abruptly cause them to stop turning.

A bubbled wheel shaft should be discarded and replaced with a new one.

## Testing for a Bubbled Wheel Shaft

Disconnect the linkage from the eccentric lever and work the eccentric lever by hand. If the lever is difficult to move the wheel shaft may be bubbled.

## Tightening the Castle Nut On the Wheel Speed Lever

Follow these instructions to tighten the castle nut (see Figure 7-3). The castle nut holds the Wheel Speed Lever on the transmission.

1. Remove the spring pin from the castle nut.

2. Tighten the castle nut. When the castle nut is properly tightened, it should require a force of 13-17 lbs. to move the Wheel Speed Lever.

3. Align the nearest slot in the castle nut with the hole in the mounting stud. Make sure that the castle nut is still tight and that the Wheel Speed Lever moves freely.

4. Install a new spring pin until it is flush with the top of the slotted nut.



## INDEX

## Α

Assembling/Installing Eccentric shaft assembly...5-10 Neutral plunger assembly...5-2 Pinion shaft assembly...5-7 PTO power unit drive shaft assembly...5-4 PTO power unit housing cover assembly...5-2 Tiller drive shaft assembly...6-3 Tiller tine shaft assembly...6-5 Tines/PTO clutch lever assembly...5-5, 7-1 Wheel shaft assembly...5-9 Attaching PTO power unit/tiller attachment...4-2

#### В

Bearings Tiller Drive Shaft Inspecting...6-2 Installing...6-3 Removing...6-1 Tiller Tine Shaft Inspecting...6-5 Installing...6-5 Removing...6-3 PTO power unit drive shaft Inspecting...5-4 Installing...5-4 Removing...5-3 Bubbled wheel shaft...7-4

## С

Castle nut, how to tighten...7-4 Cover PTO power unit Inspecting...5-2 Installing...5-2 Removing...5-1 Tiller Tine Shaft Installing...6-5 Removing...6-4

## D

Disassembling Neutral plunger assembly...5-2 Drive Shaft PTO power unit Inspecting...5-4 Installing...5-4 Removing...5-3 Tiller drive shaft Inspecting...6-2 Installing...6-3 Removing...6-1 Tiller tine shaft Inspecting...6-5 Installing...6-5 Removing...6-3

#### Е

Eccentric shaft assembly Inspecting...5-10 Installing...5-10 Removing...5-10 Engine Removing...4-1

## G

General Information...1-1

## Н

Housing cover PTO power unit Inspecting...5-2 Installing...5-2 Removing...5-1 Tiller tine shaft Installing...6-5 Removing...6-4

## I

Inspecting Eccentric shaft assembly...5-10 Pinion shaft assembly...5-6 Pre-service...3-1 PTO drive shaft assembly...5-4 PTO housing cover assembly...5-2 Tiller drive shaft assembly ... 6-2 Tiller tine shaft assembly...6-5 Wheel shaft assembly...5-9 Installing Castle nut...7-4 Eccentric shaft assembly...5-10 Engine and transmission...4-3 Pinion shaft assembly...5-7 PTO drive shaft assembly ... 5-4 PTO housing cover assembly...5-2 Tiller drive shaft assembly...6-3 Tiller tine shaft assembly...6-5 Tines/PTO clutch lever assembly...5-5, 7-1 Wheel shaft assembly...5-9 Wheel shaft, quick method...7-2

#### J

Joining PTO power unit/tiller attachment...4-2

#### Ν

Neutral plunger assembly Assembly...5-2 Disassembling...5-2

## 0

Oil seal Removing Eccentric shaft...5-10 PTO drive shaft...6-3 Tiller drive shaft...6-2 Tiller tine shaft...6-4 Wheel shaft...5-9 Replacing Eccentric shaft...5-51 Tiller drive shaft...6-3 Tiller tine shaft...6-6 Wheel shaft...5-10

#### PTO HORSE MODEL TECHNICAL MANUAL Page 8-1 4/90

## Ρ

Pinion shaft assembly Inspecting...5-6 Installing...5-7 Removing...5-5 Pre-service inspection...3-1 PTO power unit Servicing...5-1 PTO power unit/tiller attachment Attaching...4-3 Separating...4-2

## Q

Quick reference repair index...1-2

#### R

Removing Eccentric shaft assembly...5-10 Engine and transmission...4-1 Pinion shaft assembly...5-5 PTO drive shaft assembly...5-3 PTO housing cover assembly...5-1 Rusty wheel...7-2 Tiller drive shaft assembly...6-1 Tiller tine shaft...6-3 Tines/PTO clutch lever assembly...5-5, 7-1 Wheel shaft assembly...5-9 Wheel shaft, quick method...7-2

## S

Safety rules...1-1 Separating PTO power unit/tiller attachment...4-2 Shimming Pinion shaft...5-7, 5-8 PTO drive shaft...5-5 Tiller drive shaft...6-3 Tiller tine shaft...6-5 Wheel shaft...5-10

## Т

Tiller attachment/PTO power unit Attaching...4-3 Separating...4-2 Tiller drive shaft Inspecting...6-2 Installing...6-3 Removing...6-1 Tiller tine shaft Inspecting...6-5 Installing...6-5 Removing...6-3 Tines/PTO clutch lever assembly Installing...5-5, 7-1 Removing...5-3, 7-1 Troubleshooting...2-1

#### W

Wheel shaft Inspecting...5-9 Installing...5-9 Removing...5-9 Replacing, quick method...7-2 Wheel, rusty Brent Removing 17 Pers.com









TROY-BILT MANUFACTURING CO., 102nd Street & 9th Ave., Troy, New York 12180 Call Toll-Free: 1-800-833-6990

GARDEN WAY CANADA, INC., 1515 Matheson Blvd., Unit B11, Mississauga, Ontario L4W 2P5 Local calls only (416 Area Code): 624-8423 • From Ontario & Quebec Provinces call Toll-Free: 1-800-387-3351 From Western Canada & Maritime Provinces call Toll-Free: 1-800-387-3316